
Lloyd White
Head of Democratic Services
London Borough of Hillingdon,
Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW

Putting our residents first

Social Care, 
Housing and 
Public Health 
Policy Overview 
Committee
Date: WEDNESDAY 25 

SEPTEMBER 2019

Time: 7.00 PM

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM 6 - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE

Meeting 
Details:

Members of the Public and 
Media are welcome to attend.

Councillors on the Committee

Jane Palmer (Chairman)
Duncan Flynn (Vice-Chairman)
Judith Cooper
Alan Deville
Ian Edwards
Tony Eginton
Janet Gardner
Becky Haggar
Paula Rodrigues

Published: Tuesday 17 September 2019 

This agenda is available online at:
www.hillingdon.gov.uk or use a smart phone 
camera and scan the code below:

Contact: Anisha Teji
Tel: 01895 277655 
Email: ateji@hillingdon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/
mailto:ateji@hillingdon.gov.uk


Useful information for 
residents and visitors

Travel and parking

Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at 
the Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, 
with the Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a 
short walk away. Limited parking is available at 
the Civic Centre. For details on availability and 
how to book a parking space, please contact 
Democratic Services. Please enter from the 
Council’s main reception where you will be 
directed to the Committee Room. 

Accessibility

For accessibility options regarding this agenda 
please contact Democratic Services.  For those 
hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is 
available for use in the various meeting rooms. 

Attending, reporting and filming of meetings

For the public part of this meeting, residents and the media are welcomed to attend, and if 
they wish, report on it, broadcast, record or film proceedings as long as it does not disrupt 
proceedings. It is recommended to give advance notice to ensure any particular 
requirements can be met. The Council will provide a seating area for residents/public, an 
area for the media and high speed WiFi access to all attending. The officer shown on the 
front of this agenda should be contacted for further information and will be available at the 
meeting to assist if required. Kindly ensure all mobile or similar devices on silent mode.

Please note that the Council may also record or film this meeting and publish this online.

Emergency procedures

If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest 
FIRE EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre forecourt. Lifts must not be used unless 
instructed by a Fire Marshal or Security Officer.

In the event of a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued via the tannoy, a Fire 
Marshal or a Security Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, should make their 
way to the signed refuge locations.



Terms of Reference

The Following Terms of Reference are common to all Policy Overview Committees 
(referred to as “The overview role”):

1. To conduct reviews of policy, services or aspects of service which have either 
been referred by Cabinet, relate to the Cabinet Forward Plan, or have been 
chosen by the Committee according to the agreed criteria for selecting such 
reviews;

2. To monitor the performance of the Council services within their remit (including 
the management of finances and risk);

3. To comment on the proposed annual service and budget plans for the Council 
services within their remit before final approval by Cabinet and Council;

4. To consider the Forward Plan and comment as appropriate to the decision-maker 
on Key Decisions which relate to services within their remit (before they are taken 
by the Cabinet);

5. To review or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken by the Cabinet, a Cabinet 
Member, a Council Committee or an officer.

6. To make reports and recommendations to the Council, the Leader, the Cabinet, a 
Policy Overview Committee or any other Council Committee arising from the 
exercise of the preceding terms of reference.

7. In accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007, to consider ‘Councillor Calls For Action’ (CCfA) submissions.

To perform the overview role outlined above in relation to the following matters:
1. Social care services for children, young persons and children with special needs
2. Oversee the Council’s Corporate Parenting responsibilities
3. Adoption and Fostering
4. Family Services
5. Adult Social Care
6. Older People’s Services 
7. Care and support for people with physical disabilities, mental health problems 

and learning difficulties
8. Asylum Seekers
9. Local Authority Public Health services 
10. Encouraging a fit and healthy lifestyle 
11. Health Control Unit, Heathrow 
12. Encouraging home ownership 
13. Social and supported housing provision for local residents
14. Homelessness and housing needs
15. Home energy conservation 
16. National Welfare and Benefits changes



Agenda

1 Apologies for Absence and to report the presence of any substitute 
Members

2 Declarations of Interest in matters coming before this meeting

3 To receive the minutes of the previous meeting 1 - 6

4 To confirm that the items of business marked as Part I will be 
considered in Public and that the items marked as Part II will be 
considered in Private

5 Annual Complaint Report For Housing And Social Care Services For 
1 April 2018 To 31 March 2019

7 - 38

6 Children's Services Performance Data 39 - 54

7 Committee Review - Universal Credit 55 - 56

8 Committee Review 57 - 62

9 Forward Plan 63 - 66

10 Work Programme 67 - 70



Minutes

SOCIAL CARE, HOUSING AND PUBLIC HEALTH POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

31 July 2019

Meeting held at Committee Room 6 - Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge

Committee Members Present: 
Committee Members Present: 
Councillors Jane Palmer (Chairman), Duncan Flynn (Vice-Chairman), Judith Cooper, 
Alan Deville, Ian Edwards, Tony Eginton, Janet Gardner and Becky Haggar

LBH Officers Present: 
Anisha Teji – Democratic Services Officer, Tony Zaman - Corporate Director – Adults, 
Children and Young People, Zafer Yilkan – Assistant Director of Corporate Parenting, 
Peter Malewicz - Finance Manager - Social Care, Education and Schools, Claire Solley 
– Head of Safeguarding Adults and Principal Social Worker for Adults and Kate Kelly 
Talbot– Assistant Director Adult Social Work 

12.    APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND TO REPORT THE PRESENCE OF ANY 
SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  (Agenda Item 1)

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Paula Rodrigues. 

13.    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN MATTERS COMING BEFORE THIS MEETING  
(Agenda Item 2)

None. 

14.    TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  (Agenda Item 3)

It was agreed that the following insertion be added to Minute 9 - Forward Plan: 

Clarifications were sought in regards to the safeguarding plan and it was confirmed that 
the matter would be dealt with for implementation by September 2019. 

In respect of Minute 11 - Children’s Home: Ofsted Inspection, it was noted that there 
had been a further inspection of the home.  

RESOLVED: That the minutes be approved subject to the agreed insertion. 

15.    TO CONFIRM THAT THE ITEMS OF BUSINESS MARKED AS PART I WILL BE 
CONSIDERED IN PUBLIC AND THAT THE ITEMS MARKED AS PART II WILL BE 
CONSIDERED IN PRIVATE  (Agenda Item 4)

It was confirmed that there were no Part II items and that all business would therefore 
be conducted in public. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



16.    HILLINGDON LOCAL SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN'S BOARD (LSCB) AND 
SAFEGUARDING ADULTS ANNUAL REPORT  (Agenda Item 5)

The Committee considered the Hillingdon Safeguarding Adults Annual Report and the 
Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB) report. 

Safeguarding Adults Annual Report 

The Assistant Director for Adult Social Work and Head of Service Safeguarding Adults 
were in attendance to introduce the report. 

The report contained information in relation to the new governance arrangements and 
background information regarding adult safeguarding in Hillingdon. It was highlighted 
that there had been a marked increase in the number of adult safeguarding concerns 
and enquiries. This had occurred as a result of a review of working and partnership 
arrangements to ensure that all information was accurately captured. It was reported 
that the increase was therefore considered to be a positive step. 

The Adult Safeguarding Board worked closely with other governing boards and 
strategic priorities across the Council. 

It was identified that the number of safeguarding adult concerns that had progressed to 
a Safeguarding Adults Enquiry had reduced by 2% from the previous year. Adult Social 
Care had developed the work undertaken to determine if the statutory threshold for a 
Safeguarding Enquiry was met or whether any other action was required, and this had 
reduced the percentage of Safeguarding Adult Concerns progressing to larger 
enquiries (Section 42 Enquiries). It was stressed that when a concern did not progress 
to a larger enquiry, other activity was undertaken including signposting and/or 
information and advice etc. It was recognised that there was an inconsistency across 
different Councils in relation to determining if a Safeguarding Adult Concern should 
progress to a Safeguarding Adult Enquiry and work was being undertaken nationally to 
develop guidance to increase consistency.

Clarifications were sought in relation to human trafficking and how the matter was 
being addressed, particularly given the location of Hillingdon with Heathrow Airport. It 
was highlighted that London Borough of Hillingdon was part of the London Modern 
Slavery and Human Trafficking network and had identified a single point of contact for 
concerns related to Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking in Children and Adult 
Social Care. It was recognised that the work required to raise awareness, respond and 
eradicate Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking required a collaborative approach 
across the Council.

The impact on the level of risk related to the adult was discussed and it was highlighted 
that while in a larger percentage of cases, the risk was removed or reduced, there were 
occasions when the risk remained in accordance with the adults' wishes. It was 
stressed that public interest, mental capacity and undue pressure were taken into 
account.

It was agreed that officers would confirm the data presented relating to the ethnicity of 
adults who were identified as potential victims of abuse or neglect/self-neglect, after 
reviewing the breakdown of ethnicity as detailed in the report. 

It was also agreed that officers would consider how the number of criminal 
prosecutions relating to Safeguarding Adults Enquiries could be routinely collected. 
Members thanked officers for the comprehensive report, applauded the person centred 

Page 2



approach and welcomed the information highlighting how domestic abuse services had 
improved.

Local Safeguarding Children’s Board (LSCB)

The Corporate Director of Adult, Children and Young People Services and Assistant 
Director of Corporate Parenting were in attendance to introduce the report. 

The report contained information regarding the work undertaken by the LSCB in 
2018/19 and it was the last report under the current arrangements. The new 
arrangements would be implemented in September 2019, however, it was confirmed 
that in the meantime the LSCB continued to function and discharge its statutory duties.

It was confirmed that Hillingdon alongside seven other West London authorities formed 
a new partnership with the North West London Project in order to fulfil the new legal 
requirements. 

A contextual overview and further details were provided about the new safeguarding 
arrangements including the development of partnership working between the police, 
CCG and Council. 

It was reported that two areas remained priorities namely child neglect and preventing 
the criminal exploitation of children and young people. The new arrangements would 
be operationally focused and youth offending would be more integrated into the 
governance arrangements. 

It was noted that there had previously been challenges in engaging with partners in a 
meaningful way. The new governance arrangements provided opportunities to engage 
senior bodies of organisations and it was reported that this added a new level of robust 
challenge. 

The difference between contacts and referrals was explained to the Committee. It was 
noted that there was a range of outcomes that did not necessarily result in 
assessments. However, it was noted that every contact received in Hillingdon was 
signposted and always actioned.  This had been commended by Ofsted as part of its 
inspection.  

The difference between serious case reviews and learning reviews was explained to 
the Committee. For example, if there was a suspicious death this would result in a 
serious case review. The learning process included learning cascaded to all agencies 
involved and action /learning plans being documented. 

Concerns were raised about only 43 schools responding to engagement from Council 
which suggested limited interest and awareness in the area of safeguarding. 

Members thanked officers for the comprehensive report and for involving children who 
were victims of domestic violence to improve services.  

Members thanked the Independent Chairman of the LSCB, Steve Ashley, for his time 
and work. Members also thanked the Director of Children’s Services, Ana Popovici, 
and Head of Service SEND, Emily Ellington, for their services and wished them well for 
future endeavours. 

RESOLVED: That the Safeguarding Annual Report and Local Safeguarding 
Children Board Annual Report be noted. 

Page 3



17.    2020/21 BUDGET PLANNING REPORT FOR SERVICES WITHIN THE REMIT OF 
SOCIAL CARE, HOUSING AND PUBLIC HEALTH POLICY OVERVIEW 
COMMITTEE  (Agenda Item 6)

The Finance Manager - Social Care, Education and Schools was in attendance at the 
meeting to introduce the 2020/21 Budget Planning Report for Services within the remit 
of the Committee.

The report provided information on the Council’s broader financial position and detailed 
budget proposals for relevant services, with the report due to be considered in January 
2020.

The Committee was informed that budget projections remained in line with the 
February 2019 position, with a budget gap of £28.4m. This was consistent with 
previous years and similar to what other local authorities were facing.

It was noted that there was a requirement across the Council to have savings notions 
and there were longer leading times to deliver savings. 

RESOLVED: That the 2020/2021 Budget Planning Report for Services within the 
remit of Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee was 
noted.

18.    COMMITTEE REVIEW - UNIVERSAL CREDIT AND OTHER WELFARE BENEFIT 
CHANGES  (Agenda Item 7)

Areas of recommendations for the review on Universal Credit were discussed by the 
Committee in preparation for the final report. 

The Committee was keen to include recommendations about raising awareness of 
Universal Credit through promotion in the Hillingdon People, strengthening 
collaborative partnerships with the Department for Work and Pensions and other 
organisation, utilising Council resources to help residents who were unable to access 
IT and asking officers to review their own practices. 

RESOLVED: That Committee sends Democratic Services the wording for 
recommendations. 

19.    LONELINESS AND SOCIAL ISOLATION IN OLDER RESIDENTS - UPDATE  
(Agenda Item 8)

RESOLVED: That the Committee noted the update report on Loneliness and 
Social Isolation in Older Residents. 

20.    FORWARD PLAN  (Agenda Item 9)

Members discussed upcoming executive business and sought clarifications where 
required. 

RESOLVED: That the forward plan be noted. 

21.    WORK PROGRAMME  (Agenda Item 10)

RESOLVED: That the work programme be noted.
Page 4



The meeting, which commenced at 7.00 pm, closed at 8.39 pm.

These are the minutes of the above meeting.  For more information on any of the 
resolutions please contact Anisha Teji on 01895 277655.  Circulation of these minutes 
is to Councillors, Officers, the Press and Members of the Public.

The public part of this meeting was filmed live on the Council's YouTube 
Channel to increase transparency in decision-making, however these minutes 
remain the official and definitive record of proceedings.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Committee name Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee

Officer reporting Ian Anderson - Business Manager, Complaints and Enquiries

Papers with report Appendix A, B, C, D and E

Ward All

HEADLINES

To provide information to the Committee on key complaints and related service monitoring data.

RECOMMENDATIONS: 

That the Committee note the contents of the report and provide any comments to officers 
as appropriate.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

This report provides information and analysis of complaints and Members' Enquiries received 
between 1 April 2018 and 31 March 2019 for Housing and Social Care Services and satisfies the 
requirements to publish annual information about complaints. It includes 

 Appendix A: Background to the complaints process
 Appendix B: Complaints, compliments and Members’ Enquiries trends for 2018/19
 Appendix C: Housing Services
 Appendix D: Children & Young People Services
 Appendix E: Adult Social Care

Implications on related Council policies

A key role of the Policy Overview Committees is to monitor the performance of council services 
within their remit. Policy Overview Committees may also recommendations on service changes 
and improvements to the Cabinet who are responsible for the Council’s policy and direction.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

This report seeks to provide assurance that complaints and Members' Enquiries that emanate 
from residents are being processed in accordance with the Council’s published policies.

Financial Implications
There are no direct financial implications associated with this report.  

Legal Implications
None. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS
NIL

ANNUAL COMPLAINT REPORT FOR HOUSING AND SOCIAL CARE SERVICES FOR 1 
APRIL 2018 TO 31 MARCH 2019 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

APPENDIX A

1. The Council’s Vision

The Council’s vision is about ‘putting our residents first’. Feedback in the form of complaints and 
compliments is seen as a very important source of information from residents about the quality of 
services and care provided by the Council. In cases where something has gone wrong, we are 
committed to putting it right and ensure that it does not happen again. 

2. What is a Complaint?

In general terms a complaint can be considered as: 

“an expression of dissatisfaction by telephone, personal visit or in writing, about the standard of 
service, actions or lack of action by the Council or its staff affecting an individual or group of 
customers.” 

3. How can people complain?

Complaints can be made in person, by telephone, in writing, via our website or email, either 
directly to the service area, Contact Centre or to the Complaints and Enquiries Team.

4. Remedies for redress

The purpose of redress is to remedy the injustice or hardship suffered and where possible to 
return a complainant to the position they would have been before the situation went wrong. Types 
of redress include:

 an apology;
 providing the service that should have been received at first;
 taking action or making a decision that the Council should have done before;
 reconsidering an incorrect decision;
 improving procedures so that similar problems do not happen again; and
 if after an investigation by council staff or the Ombudsman, it is concluded that as a result 

of maladministration there is no practical action that would provide a full and appropriate 
remedy or if the complainant has sustained loss or suffering, financial compensation may 
be the most appropriate approach. 

5. Mediation

For some complaints it will not be appropriate, or possible, to resolve a complaint through the 
complaint process - particularly where there has been a breakdown in the relationship between 
the service provider and the service user or where emotions are running high. In such situations 
the Business Manager, Complaints and Enquiries will consider whether mediation is an option 
that should be considered. If both parties are agreeable, mediation by an independent mediator 
allows both parties to come together to see if they can reach a solution through dialogue.

Page 8



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

APPENDIX B

COMPLAINTS, COMPLIMENTS AND MEMBERS' ENQUIRIES FOR 2018/19

1. Total number of complaints/compliments recorded for 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

Directorate
Informal 

complaint
s

Stage 1 
complaint

s

Stage 2 
Complaint

s

Stage 3 
complaint

s

Ombudsman 
Investigation

s

Compliment
s

Administratio
n and Finance 108 235 27 0 12 2

Adult Social 
Care 76 40 N/A N/A 9 68

Children and 
Young 
People's 
Services

91 55 2 0 5

52

Residents 
Services 2,481 507 44 0 59 112

Total for 
2018/19 2,756 837 73 0 85 234

Comparison -  
1 April 2017 to 
31 March 2018

3,077 860 56 1 75 54

 Officers focus remains on addressing concerns raised informally and the figures above 
reflect this. We will continue to take this approach wherever possible.

 3% (23) fewer Stage 1 complaints were registered when comparing the figure of 837 for 
2018/19 with the figure of 860 for 2017/18. 

 Of the 837 Stage 1 complaints registered, Residents Services accounted for 61% (507), 
Administration and Finance 28% (235), Adult Social Care 5% (40) and Children Services 
7% (55).

 Of the 837 Stage 1 complaints, 9% (73) escalated to Stage 2. This suggests that 91% of 
formal complaints are being resolved at Stage 1.

 It is taking the Housing Ombudsman (HO) roughly 9 months and the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO) between 3 and 6 months to conclude their 
investigations. For 2018/19, 85 enquiries were concluded by the HO and LGO which is 
roughly 10% of all Stage 1 complaints responded to during this period. There has been a 
small increase in the number of complaints considered by the Ombudsman from 75 for 
2017/18 to 85 in 2018/19, this is not significant as 51 out of the 85 complaints were not 
investigated by the Ombudsman.

 During this period, 234 compliments were also recorded, which is a significant rise when 
compared with the 2017/18 figure of 54. This is as a result of articles in All Staff E-mail 
and Managers' Roundup.  

Page 9



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

 Officers continue to apply the revised Corporate complaints procedure (to escalate a 
complaint direct from Stages 1 and/or 2 to the Ombudsman where it is felt that the 
decision cannot be overturned through the complaint process). That is why volumes of 
Stage 2 and 3 complaints remain low. 

2 Complaint outcomes - 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019

The table below provides the outcome of all complaint investigations and at all stages of the 
complaint process.

Directorate Upheld Partially 
upheld

Not 
upheld

Withdrawn
/discontinued

Did not 
investigate Total

Stage 1 19 24 191 1 0 235
Stage 2 0 1 26 0 0 27Administration 

& Finance Ombudsman 1 0 0 0 11 12
Stage 1 5 7 25 3 0 40Adult Social 

Care Ombudsman 1 1 6 0 1 9
Stage 1 5 18 28 4 0 55Children & 

Young People’s 
Services Stage 2 0 2 0 0 0 2

Ombudsman 0 1 0 0 4 5
Stage 1 81 72 337 16 1 507
Stage 2 3 7 34 0 0 44
Stage 3 0 0 0 0 0 0

Residents 
Services

Ombudsman 8 4 13 0 34 59
Total for 
2018/19 123 137 660 24 51 995

Comparison -  
1 April 2017 to 
31 March 2018

130 134 575 21 N/A 860

 The volume of upheld (123) and partially upheld (137) complaints is low at 12% and 14% 
respectively when compared against the complaints not upheld figure of 660 (66%)

 Of the 85 complaints investigated by the Ombudsman, 10 were upheld, 6 partially 
upheld, 19 not upheld and 51 not investigated. 

 Please note that in one investigation (LGO 17016682), a public report was issued by the 
LGO because they felt that the Council had not made reasonable adjustments to meet 
the complainant's needs. The Council accepted the findings and recommendations of the 
Ombudsman and have already taken a number of steps to address the concerns 
identified, including the need for all frontline staff to attend equality refresher training.

3. Time taken to respond to complaints

Timeliness of response
Directorate Total number of complaints Number and % responded 

to within target
Stage 1 235 231 (98%)Administration & 

Finance Stage 2 27 26 (96%)

Page 10



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Adult Social Care Stage 1 40 33 (83%)
Children & Young 
People’s Services Stage 1 55 42 (76%)

Stage 1 507 429 (85%)Residents Services Stage 2 44 33 (75%)

 Administration and Finance. 231 (98%) out of 235 Stage 1 complaints were responded 
to within 10 working days and 96% of Stage 2 complaints were responded to within 10 
working days. This directorate is set up slightly differently to other directorates in that 
they have an Appeals and Complaints Team whose remit is to deal with complaints and 
Members' Enquiries.

 Adult Social Care. 33 (83%) out of 40 Stage 1 complaints were dealt with within our 
internal 10 working day target. 39 (98%) out of 40 Stage 1 complaints were responded to 
within our published target of 20 working days. 

 Children Services. 42 (76%) out of 55 Stage 1 complaints were responded to within 10 
working days. An area for improvement. 

 Residents Services. 429 (85%) out of 507 Stage 1 complaints were responded to within 
10 working days.    

4. Residents Services

In view of the range of corporate services provided by Residents Services, a breakdown is 
provided below of the complaints received for each service area.

Residents Services Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Ombudsman Compliments
ASBET 41 8 0 4 0
Education 32 0 0 0 1
Green Spaces includes 
Libraries 26 1 0 7 15

Highways 46 2 0 4 3
Housing 157 26 0 16 67
Planning and Building Control 105 0 0 18 2
Technical and Admin Support 
(Parking, Cemeteries) 43 4 0 5 7

Transport and Projects 10 1 0 4 0
Waste 47 2 0 1 17
Total 507 44 0 59 112

 Housing accounts for 31% (157) of all Stage 1 complaints registered for Residents 
Services with Planning, Highways and Waste services next highest at 21% (105), 9% 
(47) and 9% (46) respectively.

 Of the 32 Stage 1 Education Service complaints, 29 related to complaints to Ofsted who 
then asked the Council to investigate. The remaining 3 complaints related to parents 
dissatisfaction with the handling of their application or the decision not to admit their child 
to a particular school by the School Placement and Admission Team.

Page 11



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

 The number of compliments recorded has risen from 54 for 2017/18 to 112 for 2018/19. 
This is largely due to the number of compliments for the Repairs Team (67) which 
accounted for 60% of all compliments received for Residents Services

5.          Comparative benchmarking data on how Hillingdon compares against other 
neighbouring Local Authorities 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019.

a.         Children and Young People's Service

Local Authority Total number of 
Stage 1 
complaints

Total number of 
Stage 2 complaints

Total number of 
Stage 3 
complaints

Total Number of 
Ombudsman 
investigations

Barnet 38 1 0 4
Brent 79 12 0 1
Ealing 90 2 0 4
Buckinghamshire 44 11 3 3
Hillingdon 55 2 0 5
Islington 80 4 0 1

b.        Adult Social Care

Local Authority Total number of Stage 
1 complaints

Total Number of 
Ombudsman investigations

Barnet 95 4
Brent 97 9
Ealing 109 5
Buckinghamshire 156 10
Hillingdon 40 9
Westminster 106 5

In comparison with the Local Authorities near to us, the volume of formal complaints for the above 
two areas is low. This is mainly due to the effort made by staff to bring about early resolution of a 
complaint at the informal stage and Stage 1 of the complaint procedures. 

Comparative figures for Corporate complaints is not available as these are not published or 
shared amongst Local Authorities.

6.             Members Enquiries

Period Residents 
Services

Social Care Admin and 
Finance

Total

2017/18 8,110 205 187 8,502
2018/19 11,308 186 181 11,675

 37% (3,173) more (overall) enquiries from Elected Members when comparing the figure 
for 2017/18 of 8,502 with the figure for 2018/19 of 11,675.

Page 12



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

 Residents Services accounts for 97% of all enquiries from Elected Members. Waste 
Services (5,813), Planning and Building Control (1,891), Housing (1,240) and Green 
Spaces (1,050) receive the most number of enquiries from Elected Members.

 Adult Social Care and Children and Young People's Service received 117 and 69 enquiries 
from Elected Members, respectively. Whilst the number of enquiries is significantly lower 
than those received in Residents Services they tend to be more complex enquiries.

 The number of enquiries for Administration and Finance remains broadly similar for 
2017/18 (187) and 2018/19 (181).

Page 13



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

APPENDIX C

HOUSING SERVICES

SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS

Informal complaints

 The number of informal complaints (service requests) remains broadly similar when 
comparing 2017/18 figure of 408 with the 2018/19 figure of 421.

Stage 1 complaints

 The number of Stage 1 complaints registered remains broadly similar when comparing 
2017/18 figure of 170 with the 2018/19 figure of 157. Of the 157 Stage 1 complaints, 22 
were upheld, 44 partially upheld, 84 not upheld and 7 were withdrawn. The average time 
taken to respond to a Stage 1 complaint is 8.50 working days, with 82% (129 out of 157) 
Stage 1 complaints responded to within the 10 working day target.

Stage 2 complaints

 The number of Stage 2 complaints has risen from 10 for 2017/18 to 24 for 2018/19. Of the 
24 Stage 2 complaints, 2 were upheld, 5 partially upheld and 17 not upheld. The average 
time to respond to a Stage 2 complaint is 8.83 working days.  

Stage 3 complaints

 There were no Stage 3 complaints. 

Investigation by the Local Government or Housing Ombudsman 

 16 complaints were considered by the Ombudsman - 3 were upheld, 1 partially upheld, 2 
not upheld and in the other 10 the Ombudsman decided not to investigate.   

Compliments

 67 compliments were recorder for 2018/19 which is 179% (43) rise from the 2017/18 figure 
of 24. 

DETAILED COMPLAINT REPORT

Housing complaints are managed in line with the Council's Corporate complaints procedure. This 
procedure operates as follows:

 The Informal Complaint (service request).

 Stage 1 – response from a Director or Head of Service.

 Stage 2 – response from the Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents 
Services

Page 14



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

 Stage 3 – response from the Chief Executive of the Council

 Stage 4 - Designated Person for the Council 

 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman or Housing Ombudsman Service

A detailed report of all complaints and compliments for Housing Services is set out below.

1. INFORMAL COMPLAINTS 

The feedback we have received from residents indicate that most want action to resolve their 
concerns on the spot by discussing the problem with an officer/manager rather than going through 
the more formal complaint route. If we can resolve a residents issue in this way we will do so, 
immediately. We will continue to take this approach, wherever possible.

Table 1 – Informal complaints (Service Requests)

Year 1 April to 30 
June (Q1)

1 July to 30 
Sept (Q2) 

1 Oct to 
31 Dec 
(Q3)

1 Jan to 31 
March

Total

2017/18 104 88 102 114 408
2018/19 94 90 114 123 421

 The number of informal complaints recorded for 2017/18 and 2018/19 remains broadly 
similar.

2. STAGE 1 COMPLAINTS

A Director from Residents Services will aim to respond within 10 working days.

Table 2 – Total number of Stage 1 complaints

Period Total number
2017/18 170
2018/19 157

 The number of Stage 1 complaints registered for 2017/18 and 2018/19 remains broadly 
similar.   

Table 3 – Outcome of complaints

Service Area Total 
number

% responded 
within 10 
working days

Upheld Partially 
upheld

Not 
upheld

With 
drawn

Homeless 
Prevention

52 94 % 5 6 37 4

Repairs including 80 66 % 12 23 43 2

Page 15



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Heating
Programme and 
Asset 
Management

8 75 % 4 1 3 0

Tenancy Services 17 100 % 1 14 1 1
Total 157 82 % 22 44 84 7

 Of the 157 complaints Stage 1 complaints, 14% (22) were upheld, 28% (44) partially upheld 
and 54% (84) not upheld. 

Table 4 – Time taken to respond to a complaint at Stage 1 (working days)

2017/18 2018/19
Average time taken to 
conclude a complaint

7.80 8.50

Target 10 10
Variance - 2.2 - 1.5

 The average time taken to respond to a Stage 1 complaint is 8.50 working days against 
the target of 10 working days. A good performance. 

Table 5 - Number and % of complaints responded to within 10 working days

Period Total number 
of complaints

Number dealt with 
within 10 working days

% dealt with within 
10 working days

2017/18 170 152 89 %
2018/19 157 129 82 %

 82% (129 out of 157) Stage 1 complaints were responded to within 10 working days. This 
is an area for improvement and not as good as last year. 

 Table 3 above provides performance data by service area. 

3. STAGE 2 COMPLAINTS

The Deputy Chief Executive and Corporate Director of Residents Services will aim to respond to 
Stage 2 complaints within 10 working days. 

Table 6 – Total number of complaints progressing to Stage 2

Period Total number
2017/18 10
2018/19 24

 The number of Stage 2 complaints has risen particularly in the repairs service (heating and 
maintenance) and a summary of all the complaints are provided below.  

Page 16



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Table 7 – Outcome of complaints

Period Upheld Partially upheld Not upheld Total
2017/18 4 2 4 10
2018/19 2 1 21 24

 The % of upheld complaint (2) in comparison with the total number of Stage 2 complaints 
(24) remains low.

The table below provides a summary of the 24 Stage 2 complaints. 

Complaint details Decision at Stage 2
Complaint ref: 7083878
Ms X complained that the 
Stage 1 response was factually 
incorrect as it advised that a 
replacement pump had been 
installed to her boiler when it 
had not. 

Upheld
We apologised and advised when the 
replacement pump was being installed.

Complaint ref: 7205116
Mr X complained that his front 
door, kitchen and bathroom 
needs to be replaced. 

Upheld
Mr X was advised that after we review we had 
decided to replace his front door, kitchen and 
bathroom.

Complaint ref: 6605933
Ms X complained about the 
time taken to provide her with a 
replacement kitchen and 
bathroom.

Partially Upheld
Ms X was informed that her kitchen was 
included in the next phase of the kitchen 
replacement programme. There are no plans to 
replace her bathroom. 

Complaint ref: 6646118
Mrs X complained that the 
engineer who attended to fix 
her mother's boiler was 
incompetent. 

Not Upheld
Mrs X was informed that the engineer who 
attended to undertake the work at her mother's 
property was Gas Safe trained and registered, 
as are all the engineers who undertake such 
work. 

Complaint ref: 6998726
Mr X complained that an 
appointment to undertake his 
annual boiler service had been 
cancelled because the 
engineer was off sick.

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed the appointment had to be 
cancelled as the engineer called in sick on the 
date and that his work could not be re assigned 
to another engineer. The appointment was 
rescheduled for another date when it was 
completed. Mr X was informed that the 
cancelled appointment would not be recorded 
on his records.  

Complaint ref: 6586921
Ms X complained that the 
Council had refused to replace 
her damaged fence panel.   

Not Upheld
Ms X was informed that the repair of her fence 
was her responsibility but as a gesture of 
goodwill, we have arranged for a fencing 
contractor to renew the fence panels free of 
charge.

Page 17



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Complaint ref: 6772883
Ms X complained that her 
request for compensation to 
replace plants which were 
damaged when waste removed 
from a blocked gully was 
"thrown over" them was 
refused.

Not Upheld
Ms X was informed that high-pressure water is 
sometimes needed when clearing blocked 
drains and gullies and it is not possible to 
completely eliminate splash damage. As a 
gesture of goodwill we agreed to pay Ms X a 
small sum of money to replace her plants.   

Complaint ref: 7065202
Ms X complained that the 
Council had not made a 
reasonable adjustment in 
considering her housing 
situation i.e. build her a wet 
room and an external lift.

Not Upheld
Ms X was informed that it was not feasible to 
install an external lift but to help we registered 
her for a direct nomination and would contact 
her as soon as a suitable four bedroom property 
becomes available.

Complaint ref: 6934370
Mr X complained that the 
Council had refused to pay for 
a roof leak.

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed that this matter had been 
considered by the Council's insurer's and they 
had repudiated the claim for roof leak damage. 

Complaint ref: 7002279
Dr X complained that he was 
entitled to substantial 
compensation from the Council 
because of a shortfall in rental 
over the past 20 years.

Not Upheld
Dr X was informed that the Council is not 
responsible for contacting landlords to advise 
them that it is open to them to increase the rent 
for any residential property. Our records 
indicate that the tenant's tenancy had been a 
private tenancy for many years before it ended.  
During that period it would have been open to 
Dr X to increase the rent as he saw fit.  

Complaint ref: 6716327
Mr X complained that there was 
a vibrating noise from a gate 
that was disturbing him and 
that the Council was refusing to 
take any action to address this 
issue

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed that the Council's contractor 
responsible for the maintenance of this gate 
undertook an inspection. As a result of this 
inspection, they identified that one of the two 
locks had been damaged beyond repair and this 
has meant that the gate was only secured by 
one lock rather than two. The necessary repair 
was undertaken on 22 June 2018. 

Complaint ref: 6886778
Mr X complained that the 
Council had refused to repair 
the wet room floor. 

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed that Officers from the 
Council had visited his premises and as a result 
of this inspection, they advised that the only real 
option is to cap off the under-floor pipes, re-run 
them above floor level and box the pipes in. Mr 
X had declined this offer. 

Complaint ref: 7101007
Ms X complains that she was 
coerced into removing her 
niece from her housing 
application and not warned that 
the affect of this would be that 

Not Upheld
Ms X was informed that once her partner began 
to live with her it meant that she no longer 
needed 24/7 care from her niece. The affect of 
this was that she was now assessed as a three 
bedroom need because she was considered to 

Page 18



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

her banding would change 
from a Band A to Band C.

be overcrowded rather than severely 
overcrowded. 

Complaint ref: 7043657
Mr X complained that he could 
hear noises in the chimney 
which was as a result of 
building work done by his 
neighbour.  

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed that as a result of his report 
an inspection was undertaken of the communal 
roof.  Communal roofing repairs are done 
without the resident needing to be at home and 
in this case the roofer would not be able to 
diagnose chimney defects from within his flat. 
However, as a matter of good practice we 
should have informed him of what we had done. 
We apologised that we did not do so. 

Complaint ref: 7066996
Ms X wanted the Council to get 
her neighbour to have the 
aerial that was installed 
removed as it was non 
compliant in planning terms.

Not Upheld
Ms X was informed that the Council did not erect 
the aerial installation to the rear of her property 
but having established that it was non-compliant 
in planning terms made, we have agreed to 
have it removed.

Complaint ref: 7008136
Ms X complained about her 
neighbours gardens which she 
felt was encroaching on hers.

Not Upheld
Ms X was informed that the Council would not 
normally be involved in boundary disputes 
between two private owners. If she believed that 
there is an encroachment onto her land she may 
wish to seek independent legal advice.

Complaint ref: 7239838
Mr X complained that the 
Investigating Officers decision 
that the inspection of the 
parking areas under the 
Council's estate at Hayes Town 
Centre would require a 
disproportionate use of his 
officer's time, to be unfair and 
unjust

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed that an inspection of the 
parking areas on the Hayes Town Centre estate 
would reflect a snap-shot of the areas at a point 
in time during the working week. It would not 
provide data on issues presented outside of 
these times and in particular during the evening 
and weekend periods when more residents may 
be at home and are using the parking areas.

Complaint ref: 6795547
Ms X complained that the 
Council was not taking fire 
safety very seriously. 

Not Upheld
Ms X was advised of the Council's fire safety 
works programme, including replacement fire 
doors and upgrading emergency lighting 
systems and associated works, where required 
There is no statutory duty placed on the Council 
to install smoke and CO2 alarms. 

Complaint ref: 7335742
Ms X complained that the 
Council had refused to repair 
her fence.

Not Upheld
Ms X was told that the does not accept 
responsibility for fencing and associated repairs 
as this is the tenant's responsibility.

Complaint ref: 7097899
Mrs X wanted compensation 
because the Council did not 
renew the kitchen to the 
timescale that had been given 

Not Upheld
Mrs X was informed that at the start of her 
tenancy the work due to be undertaken was 
subject to the outcome of a review. However, 
the Maintenance Service would still have done 

Page 19



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

to the previous tenant. any health and safety repairs until the new 
renewal date.

Complaint ref: 6650933
Mr X complained that he should 
not have to pay for repair costs 
after he went into the loft, 
accidentally fell and damaged 
the loft floor/bedroom ceiling

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed that under section 5.15 of his 
Tenancy Agreement and Conditions states: "If 
you fail to take reasonable care of the property 
and its condition deteriorates then we 
can [...] carry out necessary works and charge 
you a reasonable amount".  The Council's 
position is that Mr X failed to take reasonable 
care and is required to pay for the costs of 
repair. 

Complaint ref: 7185384
Mrs X complained that plumber 
was rude to her and left without 
doing a repair.

Not Upheld
Mrs X was informed that the emergency 
plumber tightened the valve but found that she 
had engaged her own plumber to fit a sink and 
taps and this had caused the leak. The plumber 
informed Mrs X that the Council does not repair 
tenants' own alterations and installations. He 
plumber denied being rude to Mrs X but advised 
that she had asked him to leave as he would not 
do the repair.  

Complaint ref: 7258059
Mr X complained that even 
though he regularly cleaned off 
the mould it keeps returning 
and that this was because the 
windows themselves are in 
disrepair.

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed that the officer who visited 
did not find any sign of rising damp or any 
defects that could cause moisture to penetrate 
from outside. The Council's position is that the 
mould is being caused by condensation which 
is not being sufficiently controlled by heating 
and ventilation in combination. 

Complaint ref: 6792974
Mr X complained that the 
Council refused to remove the 
Willow tree which had its main 
root severed and that this could 
lead to the tree falling over.

Not Upheld
Mr X was informed that the Trees and 
Woodland Officer had made an inspection and 
has advised that there is no damage to the 
Willow tree.

Table 8 – Time taken to respond to a complaint at Stage 2 (working days)

2017/18 2018/19
Average time taken to 
conclude a complaint

8.63 8.83

Target 10 10
Variance - 1.37 -1.17

 The average time taken to conclude a Stage 2 complaint is 8.83 working days against the 
target of 10 working days. 

Page 20



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

4. STAGE 3 COMPLAINTS

At Stage 3, the Chief Executive commissions an investigation by an officer in Democratic Services 
and the aim is to respond within 15 working days.

 There were no Stage 3 complaints.

5. INVESTIGATION BY THE COUNCIL'S DESIGNATED PERSON

If a complaint is about a tenancy, leasehold, or other housing management issue, a complainant 
can either refer their complaint to a ‘Designated Person’ to see if they can help to the complaint. 
If the ‘Designated Person’ cannot resolve a complaint or if 8 weeks have elapsed since the Stage 
3 response, a complainant can then complain to the Housing Ombudsman Service.

 There were no investigations by the Council's Designated Person - Councillor Corthorne.

6. INVESTIGATIONS BY THE OMBUDSMAN

Where it appears that a Council’s own investigations have not resolved the complaint, the 
complainant is entitled to refer their complaint to the Local Government and Social Care 
Ombudsman or Housing Ombudsman Service and at any stage of the complaint process. 

Table 9 – Total number of Ombudsman investigations

Period Total number
2017/18 20
2018/19 16

The findings and decision of the Ombudsman is set out below.

Complaint details Ombudsman decision
Complaint ref: 6719717
Ms X complained about the Council's 
handling of her rent account 
between 15 May 2017 and 19 March 
2018.
 

Upheld 
The Ombudsman found that there was 
maladministration in the Council's 
handling of the rent account between 15 
May 2017 and March 2018. The Council 
agreed to apologise for this and offered 
a sum of money in compensation.

Complaint ref: 6921406
Miss X complained that the Council 
failed to provide her with 
accommodation despite her 
unsuitable living conditions and the 
fact her sister had told her to leave. 
In addition, she says the Council 
refused her application to go on its 
housing register.

Upheld
The Ombudsman's found that the 
Council was at fault as it did not provide 
Miss X with accommodation, and it 
gave false assurances she would be 
accepted onto its housing register with 
high priority. It did not consider whether 
overcrowding at her sister’s house 
should have led it to accept her housing 
register application. The Council agreed 
to apologise and pay Miss X a small 
sum of money.

Page 21



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Complaint ref: 6963083
Ms X complained that the Council 
refused to assist her when she 
asked it for help with housing when 
she had to leave her home because 
of domestic violence. She says it told 
her to make an application in another 
borough. 

Upheld 
The Ombudsman found that the Council 
did not properly consider whether Ms X 
could be housed in its area but this did 
not cause an injustice to Ms X because 
there was no interim accommodation 
available in the area at the time. The 
Council has taken a homelessness 
application and has decided Ms X is not 
homeless.

Complaint ref: 7096430
Mr X complained that the Council 
refused to provide interim 
accommodation when he requested 
it in October 2018 and has not 
responded to his communications. 
He says he is vulnerable because of 
various medical conditions and is 
rough sleeping.

Partially Upheld
The Ombudsman determined that the 
Council was at fault for not responding 
to Mr X when he was in hospital in 
November 2018 but it was not at fault 
for not providing temporary 
accommodation.

Complaint ref: 7070403
Mr X complained that the Council did 
not give him adequate housing 
advice and assistance after he 
became homeless following the 
breakdown of his relationship and 
that the Council did not arrange 
suitable accommodation where he 
could recover following surgery.

Not Upheld
The Ombudsman found that there was 
no fault in the way the Council assisted 
Mr X when he became homeless.

Complaint ref: 6716327
Mr X complained about the way the 
Council responded to his reports of 
noise and vibrations into his home.

Not Upheld
The Ombudsman determined that there 
was no maladministration by the 
Council in the way it responded to 
reports of noise and vibrations in the 
property emanating from the parking 
entry gate.

Complaint ref: 6730184
Mr X disagreed with the Council’s 
decision that he had not lived 
continuously in the borough for 10 
years and that he was ineligible to 
join the housing register. 

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman's decision was that 
there is insufficient evidence of fault by 
the Council.

Complaint ref: 6674295
Miss X complained about the 
Council’s decision to decline her 
application for a driveway which 
crosses two grass verges in the 
Council’s ownership

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman found that, in 
reaching its decision, the Council had 
followed the process they would expect 
and there was not sufficient justification 
to call on the Council to provide the 
remedy Miss X sought.

Complaint ref: 6626548
Ms X complained about the 

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate 

Page 22



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Council’s decision not to allow her on 
its housing register to apply for 
ground floor accommodation. She 
says she needs to move because 
she is 79 years old and struggles 
with the steps to her flat.

this complaint because there was 
insufficient evidence of fault on the 
Council’s part which would warrant an 
investigation by the Ombudsman.

Complaint ref: 6596597
Ms X complained that the Council 
had not dealt with the damp and 
mould in her home for the last two 
years. Ms X felt that the Council 
should re-house her family because 
of this and because of overcrowding.

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate 
this complaint because there is not 
enough evidence of fault by the Council 
which has caused injustice to Ms X.

Complaint ref: 6993301
Ms X complained about the 
Council’s allocation of Band D 
priority for her housing application. 
She says she should have a higher 
banding and not be faced with being 
offered private rented 
accommodation.

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate 
this complaint because there is 
insufficient evidence of fault which 
would warrant an investigation.

Complaint ref: 7005029
Miss X disagreed with the Council’s 
decision that she had not lived in the 
borough continuously for the last 10 
years.

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate 
this complaint because there is 
insufficient evidence of fault by the 
Council.

Complaint ref: 6807542
Ms X complained that the offer of 
permanent accommodation which 
the Council made to her three years 
ago, was forced upon her by the 
Council and that the property was 
unfit to let. Ms X says that the 
property is a housing association let 
and she says it had outstanding 
repair issues from the previous 
tenants.

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not use its 
discretion to investigate this complaint. 
This is because it was received more 
than 12 months after the events or 
relates to housing by a social housing 
landlord. The Ombudsman has no 
jurisdiction to investigate social housing 
landlords and the management of social 
housing.

Complaint ref: 6602148
Ms X complained about the 
Council’s failure to replace a 
boundary fence after it told her it 
would do previously. She says she 
moved plants in preparation for the 
work but the fence was only 
repaired. She wants the fence to be 
replaced.

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate 
this complaint because the matter 
concerns the actions of a social housing 
landlord and the Ombudsman has no 
jurisdiction to investigate this body.

Complaint ref: 7233518
Miss X complained that she made a 
bid for a property under the Council’s 
choice based lettings scheme but 

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate 
Miss X’s complaint because it was not 
fault for the Council to allocate its 

Page 23



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

the Council failed to offer it to her. property to the applicant with the 
highest priority.

Complaint ref: 6674295
Ms X complained about the 
Council’s decision to decline her 
application for a driveway which 
crosses two grass verges in the 
Council’s ownership.

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman determined that in 
reaching its decision, the Council has 
followed the process we would expect 
and there is not sufficient justification for 
the Ombudsman to call on the Council 
to provide the remedy Miss X is 
seeking.

7. LEARNING FROM COMPLAINTS

I have looked at all the complaints recorded to identify errors and what we did to resolve these 
issues. Listed below are the main themes:

1. Communication

Residents complained that in three instances they were not provided with updates on when their 
repairs would be undertaken, one instance where a property was offered and then withdrawn and 
in two instances officers failed to respond to e-mails sent. In all instances we apologised.

2. Delays

Residents complained that in one instance the time they had to wait before a part was ordered, 
five instances where people complained about the time taken to undertake repairs, one instance 
where someone was dissatisfied with the time taken to replace her windows and one instance 
where a landlord complained about the time taken to process a House in Multiple Occupation 
application. In all instances we apologised.

3. Workmanship

In one instance a resident complained that poor workmanship resulted in a flood in her property. 
We apologised and undertook work in her property to repair the damage caused.

4. Customer Service

In four instances residents complained that officers were rude to them, that a contractor employed 
by the Council used her facilities without asking and that incorrect advice given caused her 
inconvenience.

Recommendations:

 officers were reminded of the Council's Customer Service policy and this was also 
publicised across policy via the AllStaffE-mail and the Manager's monthly roundup; and

 the need for accuracy of information given particularly appointment dates/times and if this 
is not going to be met we need to be proactive and tell a client if an appointment is going 
to be changed or if the operative is going to be delayed;

Page 24



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

8. COMPLIMENTS

Table 10 – number of compliments received

Period Total number
2017/18 24
2018/19 67

179% (43) rise in the volume of compliments received. 

Here’s what some people said about your service:

Ms X said "what a wonderful job the decorator did at her property, she is overjoyed and wanted 
to make sure his work and efforts did not go unnoticed or unappreciated."

A tenant called to say "thank you for her job that was carried out today by xx - they did a great 
job and were very respectful".

Thanks to all the people regarding the work that was done on our site which included a new hut, 
fencing, gate's and concreting. All the work was of a high standard and all the people we dealt 
with were helpful and personable. 

"I would like to compliment X the tradesman you sent to fix our broken kitchen drawer. He 
assessed the situation and saw that it needed replacing, he went and collected a new one and 
installed it. We would like to thank him for his good work and the drawer is now in perfect working 
order".

Mr X called to praise the plumber who had fixed a problem with his kitchen sink which the 
previous operatives failed to repair.

Mr X said the plumber that last attended was courteous, professional and more importantly 
"knew what he was doing".

Mr X wanted to "thank the contractor who went out and fixed her path along with her neighbour's 
path at 21. She said a private contractor couldn't of done a better job and wanted to send a thank 
you over to show her appreciation. She said they were very nice and done a wonderful job".

Page 25



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

APPENDIX D

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S SERVICES

SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS

Informal Complaints

 91 informal complaints (service requests) were recorded for 2017/18 which is a 52% (31) 
increase from 2017/18 figure of 60. 

Stage 1 complaints

 55 Stage 1 complaints were recorded for 2018/19, which is a 4% (2) increase. The average 
time taken to respond to a Stage 1 complaint is 10.82 working days. 76% (42 out of 55) 
Stage 1 complaints were responded to within 10 working days. 

Stage 2 and 3 Complaints

 There were two Stage 2 investigations and both were partially upheld. 
 There were no Stage 3 investigations commissioned during this period. 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO)

 Five complaints were considered by the LGO. The Ombudsman partially upheld 1 of the 
complaint and they did not investigate the remaining four.  

DETAILED COMPLAINT REPORT

Complaints made by children or on their behalf are governed by the Children's Act 1989, 
Representations Procedure (England) Regulations 2006 (Statutory Instrument 2006 No. 1738). 
This sets out the three stage complaint procedure that Local Authorities are required to follow 
when dealing with complaints made by for example any child or young person, any local authority 
foster carer, children leaving care, etc. Hillingdon’s procedure operates as follows:

THE COMPLAINT PROCEDURE

 The Informal Complaint (service request).

 Stage 1 – Local Resolution - response from the Head of Service or Assistant Director.  

 Stage 2 – Independent Investigation by two people (Investigating Officer and Independent 
Person).  

 Stage 3 – Review Panel comprising of three independent people

 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman.

A detailed report of all complaints and compliments for Children and Young People's Service is 
set out below.

Page 26



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

1. THE INFORMAL COMPLAINT

We will try to resolve enquiries/concerns on the spot by discussing the problem with a complainant 
and understanding what it is they are seeking by way of an outcome. If we can solve the problem 
we will do so, immediately. 

Table 11 - Informal Complaints received – (Service requests)

Year 1 April to 30 
June (Q1)

1 July to 30 
Sept (Q2) 

1 Oct to 31 
Dec (Q3)

1 Jan to 31 
March

Total

2017/18 14 15 16 15 60
2018/19 14 23 33 21 91

52% (31) more complaints were dealt with by way of service requests when comparing 2017/18 
figure of 60 with the 2018/19 figure of 91. 

2. STAGE 1 – LOCAL RESOLUTION

An Assistant Director or Head of Service will investigate and aim to respond to complaints within 
10 working days. 

Table 12 – Total number of complaints recorded

Period Total number
2017/18 53
2018/19 55

4% (2) more complaints registered at Stage 1 when comparing the 2017/18 figure of 53 with the 
2018/19 figure of 55.

Table 13 – Complaints by service area

Period Upheld Partially 
upheld

Not 
upheld

Withdrawn Total

2017/18 4 10 36 3 53
2018/19 5 18 28 4 55

The volume of partially upheld is higher than 2017/18 but the volume of not upheld complaints is 
lower than 2017/18. 

 Table 14 – Time taken to respond to a Stage 1 complaint (working days)

2017/18 2018/19
Average time taken to 
conclude a complaint

10.75 10.82

Target 10 10

Page 27



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Variance + 0.75 + 0.82

The average time taken to conclude a Stage 1 complaint of 10.82 working days is just over the 
target of 10 working days.

Table 15 - Number and % of complaints responded to within 10 working days

Period Total number 
of complaints

Number dealt with 
within 10 working days

% dealt with within 
10 working days

2017/18 53 45 85%
2018/19 55 42 76%

42 (76%) of Stage 1 complaints were responded to within the 10 working day target. This is an 
area for improvement.   

3. STAGE 2 INVESTIGATIONS

A Stage 2 investigation is conducted by an Investigating Officer (IO) and Independent Person (IP) 
not employed by the Council with specialist skills and knowledge of the Children's Act.  The 
timescale to conclude such an investigation is set by statute at 25 working days but this may be 
extended to a maximum of 65 working days.

There were two Stage 2 investigations and the findings are set out below.

Complaint details LGO decision
Complaint ref: 6064222
Mr and Mrs X complained that 
the assessment and care 
planning was inadequate, the 
choice of provider was 
unsuitable, that the Looked After 
Child (LAC) reviews were not 
arranged in a timely way. 

Partially Upheld
The report provided by the Investigating 
Officer upheld some elements of the 
complaint i.e. that the care planning had not 
been fully carried out, the background 
information in the minutes of the LAC 
Review could give the wrong impression of 
the parents, etc.   

Complaint ref: 6130560 and 
6208536
Mr X complained that this 
Council failed to share 
information with him about his 
children who were living with 
their mother, that their mother 
was coaching them on what to 
say, etc. 

Partially Upheld
The Investigating Officer upheld some 
aspects of the complaint namely that more 
could have been done to inform Mr X of 
social services involvement with the 
children. 

4. STAGE 3 INVESTIGATIONS

At Stage 3 of the complaint process, three people independent of the Council, will consider the 
complaint and wherever possible work towards a resolution. The timescale to conclude such an 
investigation is 45 working days.

There were no Stage 3 investigations during this period.

Page 28



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

5. INVESTIGATION BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN 
(LGO)

Five complaints were considered by the Ombudsman during this period. The findings and decision 
of the LGO is set out below.

Complaint details LGO decision
Complaint ref: 6737415
Mrs X complained that the 
Council failed to offer sufficient 
financial and other support. As a 
result, she has struggled to meet 
the needs of her grandchildren. 

Partly Upheld
The Ombudsman determined that there 
was some delay by the Council in reviewing 
the support but this has been caused, in 
part, by the continued uncertainty about 
whether the complainant would remain 
living in the area of another council. The 
complainant has now decided to stay put, 
so the Council has agreed, a way of 
resolving this complaint.

Complaint ref: 6702972
Ms X complained that the social 
worker failed to call her on an 
agreed date and time and when 
she could not speak to the social 
worker, the officers she did 
speak to gave her conflicting 
information 

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate a 
complaint about a missed telephone call 
and wrong information about the complaints 
procedure. This is because Ms X had 
received her telephone call and the Council 
agreed to apologise and clarify its 
complaints procedure to her.

Complaint ref: 7080108
Mr X complained about the 
decision to move him from a 
foster placement in 1986 was 
wrong, that the Council failed to 
provide him with support during 
this time and encouraged him to 
meet his half brother who had a 
criminal record. 

Did not investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate Mr X’s 
complaints about events that took place 
while he was a Looked After Child because 
the complaint is late and the events at the 
heart of his complaint took place too long 
ago for the Ombudsman to carry out a 
meaningful investigation. It is unlikely they 
could add anything to the Council’s 
response.

Complaint ref: 6498206
Mr X complained that the 
Council’s children services team 
shared information about his 
partner without her consent, 
inaccurately described his 
parent’s relationship with his 
child in an assessment and 
incorrectly spelt surnames in the 
same report.

Did not Investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate Mr X’s 
complaint about information in a child’s 
assessment. The Council apologised and 
made corrections, and the Information 
Commissioner’s Office is better placed to 
consider Mr X’s confidentiality breach claim.

Page 29



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Complaint ref: 7264070
Ms X complained that the 
Council made false statements 
about her in a social care report. 
She wanted the Council to 
remove the false allegations and 
apologise.

Did not Investigate
The Ombudsman did not investigate this 
matter because there was insufficient 
evidence of fault by the Council and 
because it is unlikely the Ombudsman could 
add to the Council’s response

6. LEARNING FROM COMPLAINTS

All complaints recorded were looked at to identify errors and what was done to resolve these 
issues. Listed below are the main themes:

Communication

There were three instances where people complained about misinformation and that this led to 
confusion, 1 instance where an update was not provided and 1 instance when an enquiry was not 
responded too. We apologised in all instances and addressed this directly with the officer 
concerned.

Delays 

Three people complained about delays in arranging a payment, the time it took for officers to 
respond to their enquiry and for the time it took for the Council to forward minutes of a meeting. 
We apologised. 

Errors

Two people complained about factual inaccuracies within a report and that we failed to organise 
home tuition.

7. COMPLIMENTS

Table 16 – number of compliments received

Period Total number
2017/18 60
2018/19 52

Compliments are down 13% (8) when comparing the same period in 2017/18 of 60 with 2018/19 
of 52.

Here’s what some people have said.

Just wanted to write to you about one of your colleagues Z. She was the assigned social worker 
for my son Y and has been an absolute delight to work with. Even once the case was closed, I 
was able to phone her up and asked for help and she immediately assisted. She did not refuse 
to help us just because the case was closed. Then for various reasons the case reopened and 
she was reassigned to X and again assisted us greatly and with a warm heart.  She has been 

Page 30



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

wonderful because throughout this time I was very anxious and fearful  about my son running 
away from home and I guess she was kind of like a shoulder to cry on but she did not mind at all 
and listened  to me throughout my distressed  times. Due to her assistance our son is now at 
school. He is happy there and finally settling down and this has helped him to slightly change his 
attitude for the better towards me and my husband. I must add she also help X to get a place on 
the photography A-level. Initially the school said no but our son was so desperate to get onto this 
course and so I asked Z to explain to the school that by him receiving a place on this course 
would only benefit him, as he would be happy and a feeling of happiness and 
contentment is something he has had for long time. Z was kind enough to relay this to the school, 
and they then decided to give him a place on the course. We are so very very grateful to Z and 
just wanted to let you know of the wonderful work that she has done in our family and for our 
son. It’s so nice and heart warming to see somebody that does this job to make a difference to 
the lives of people.

I just wanted to say thank you again for all your help and support and apologies for being an 
emotional wreck on the phone earlier. It has been such a journey with X and all these decisions 
always feel so big. I’m so very grateful for all your time and work, you have been a great support 
and have made the process feel so much less daunting at every step.

Thank you so much X, you are the best PA I have ever had and I will miss you big time, I am 
happy to have met an amazing person like you. I hope the path ahead is smooth for you and 
you reach your goals without fuss. All the best in your new job

Thanks X, you are the best I want to use this opportunity to say thank you for your love and 
supports towards me, your help has brought me this far and this is why I say a big thank you to 
you. I know the people you will work with now will enjoy your company as much as I did, wish you 
all the best in your new career. Will miss you loads. 

Just wanted to say thank you for being there for me, and for supporting me, I couldn’t ask for 
more. You’re the most caring person I have ever met, for the last eight years all the social workers 
that work with me were too busy I guess or maybe they were just doing their job, and I’m not 
blaming them. But for the last two years you’ve changed my life, I was emotionally struggling 
couldn’t cope with life, and you helped me to get through them hard times, you helped me a lot 
you’re not only my social worker or personal adviser but you’re my counsellor, you listen to my 
problems you helped me to find a solution of everything, I can’t compare you to the other social 
workers that worked with me, I couldn’t share anything with them because, I didn’t find that 
comfort from them, everything that challenged me, you was there to support me you told me I can 
face my fears and encouraged me bit by bit, sometimes on your busy days you still manage to 
talk to me when I call, you don't stop me there and say you’re busy. You know how people talk 
about their families and people they love, I always talk about you and tell my friends how wonderful 
person you are. I am written this because I managing to solve things by myself now and I wouldn’t 
have been able to do that without you X. The world needs people like you I know your job ain’t 
easy and there is always new challenges but I have never see you complaining or telling me how 
bad your day was. Without you, I wouldn't be who I am or where I am today, you showed me the 
there is more in life, you motivated me to continue my education and all the young people you 
worked with adores you, and they should be because you’re the second mother they never had. 
You inspire me, and I hope that one day I can be as good as you are, I hope one day I can make 
you proud and help young people out there who needs me. It is not always easy to share things 
with people or friends but it was always easier when I talk you, I can tell you all my problems and 
you won’t get tired of it. You’re one in million X and I’m glad I have met someone who is caring 
like you, you make me proud of myself now, I look back and I think to myself where would I be if 

Page 31



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

it wasn’t for you telling me to do better, you pushed me to go further and gave me million reasons 
to carry on. This is just a little thank you for everything you done for me and for all the young 
people you worked with. We all love you X, you’re a star and inspiration. 

I think I am going to cry. Those words you sent mean so so much to me and I am so grateful to 
you because you were around for the toughest time of my life. You were always there when I 
needed you and the support you've given me has been so wonderful. So thank you from the 
bottom of my heart, I honestly don't know how I would of survived without you. I wish you all the 
best in your new job. I know you'll be excellent because you are so dedicated and so driven. I can 
only aspire to be like you, you've been such an amazing role model. Best of luck to you.

Page 32



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

APPENDIX E

ADULT SOCIAL CARE

SUMMARY OF ANALYSIS

Informal Complaints

 12 more informal complaints were recorded when comparing the 2017/18 figure of 64 with 
the 2018/19 figure of 76.

Stage 1 complaints

 Stage 1 complaints are down from 54 for 2017/18 to 40 for 2018/19. 

 The average time taken to respond to a Stage 1 complaint is 9.50 working days. 83% (33 
out of 40) Stage 1 complaints were responded to within our internal target of 10 working 
days and 98% (39 out of 40) were responded to within our published target of 20 working 
days. 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGO)

 The Ombudsman concluded 9 investigations during this period with 1 upheld, 1 partially 
upheld, 6 not upheld and 1 was not investigated.  

Compliments

 Compliments are up from 56 for 2017/18 to 68 for 2018/19.

DETAILED COMPLAINT REPORT

The procedure for dealing with Adult Social Care complaints is regulated by the ‘The Local 
Authority Social Services and National Health Service Complaints (England) Regulations 2009’. 

This procedure is far less prescriptive and allows for early escalation to the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman should the complainant be dissatisfied with the response from the 
Local Authority. The intention of this procedure is to achieve resolution at the first attempt, to 
remove bureaucracy and is designed to empower complainants in shaping from the outset the 
approach to resolving the complaint.

THE COMPLAINT PROCEDURE 

 The Informal Complaint (service request).

 Stage 1 – response from an Assistant Director or Head of Service of the area complained 
about.

 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

A detailed explanation of all complaints and compliments for Adult Social Care is set out below.

Page 33



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Table 17 - Informal Complaints received – (service requests)

Year 1 April to 30 
June (Q1)

1 July to 30 
Sept (Q2) 

1 Oct to 
31 Dec 
(Q3)

1 Jan to 31 
March

Total

2017/18 18 18 12 16 64
2018/19 17 23 20 16 76

 19% (12) more informal complaints (service requests) recorded when comparing 2017/18 
figure of 64 with the 2018/19 figure for 76.

2. STAGE 1 COMPLAINT - LOCAL RESOLUTION

At Stage 1 of the complaint process an Assistant Director or Head of Service will carry out an 
investigation and aim to respond within 10 working days.

Table 18 – Total number of Stage 1 complaints 

Period Total number
2017/18 54
2018/19 40

 26% (14) fewer Stage 1 complaints recorded for 2018/19 then 2017/18. 

Table 19 – Outcome of complaints

Period Upheld Partially 
upheld

Not 
upheld

Withdrawn/
cancelled

Total

2017/18 3 11 36 4 54
2018/19 5 7 25 3 40

 13% (5) Stage 1 complaints were upheld, 18% (7) partially upheld and 63% (25) not 
upheld.

Table 20 – Time taken to respond to a complaint (working days)

2017/18 2018/19
Average time taken to 
conclude a complaint

10.48 9.50

Target 20 20
Variance - 9.52 -10.50

 The average time taken to respond to a Stage 1 complaint is 9.50 working days which is 
within our internal target of 10 working days and much better than our published target of 
20 working days.  

Page 34



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Table 21 - Number and % of complaints responded to within 10 working days

Period Total number 
of complaints

Number dealt with 
within 10 working days

% dealt with within 
10 working days

2017/18 54 44 81%
2018/19 40 33 83%

 33 (83%) of Stage 1 complaints were responded to within our internal target of 10 working 
days and 39 out of 40 Stage 1 complaints were responded to within our published target 
of 20 working days. There is room for improvement. 

3. LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND SOCIAL CARE OMBUDSMAN INVESTIGATION (LGO)

Table 22 – Total number of LGO investigations

Period Total Number
2017/18 11
2018/19 9

The table below shows the nine complaints considered by the Ombudsman and the outcome of 
their investigations. 

Complaint details LGO decision
Complaint ref: 6494635
Mrs X complained that the 
Council had failed to provide 
the care and support needed 
to meet her son’s eligible care 
needs. In particular she 
complained that direct 
payments and support with 
travel to college were not 
provided.

Upheld
The Ombudsman found that the Council did not 
produce a care and support plan, delayed in 
processing direct payments, and a failure to put 
in place interim arrangements whilst awaiting a 
financial assessment or a personal assistant. 
The Council agreed to apologise, make a 
payment in compensation and consider how to 
meet her son's needs.

Complaint ref: 6380849
Mr X complained that the 
Council placed his adult son, 
Mr Y, who has autism, in an 
inappropriate supported living 
setting from December 2016 
to August 2017. He says Mr Y 
was not given the support he 
needed, resulting in a poor 
quality of life and severely 
distressed behaviour 
impacting on himself, the 
family and care staff.

Partially upheld
The Ombudsman did not find fault with the way 
the Council decided to place Mr Y at the setting 
but the Ombudsman does find the Council at 
fault for aspects of its provision of support to Mr 
Y i.e. care planning, risk assessment and 
review. The Ombudsman recommends the 
Council pays Mr Y and two members of his 
family compensation for the distress and 
uncertainty caused by its fault. 

Complaint ref: 6054853 
Mr and Mrs X complained that 
the Council failed to tell them 

Not Upheld
The Ombudsman found no evidence of fault in 
the way the Council told Mr and Mrs X about 

Page 35



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

that they would have to 
contribute towards the cost of 
a six-week care package, 
following Mr X’s discharge 
from hospital. 

these charges.

Complaint ref: 6409603
Mr X complained that the 
Council failed to properly 
consider his daughter need 
for transport to school. He 
asked the Ombudsman to 
look at whether the Council 
had acted with fault by 
refusing his application. He 
was also unhappy with the 
way the Council considered 
his appeals. 

Not Upheld
The Ombudsman found no evidence of fault.

Complaint ref: 6351292
Mr Y complained on behalf of 
Miss X that the Council failed 
to properly consider her 
request to submit timesheets 
on a 12 weekly rather than 4 
weekly basis, as a reasonable 
adjustment due to her 
disability.

Not Upheld
The Council has agreed to allow Ms X a grace 
period of up to 12 weeks to submit timesheets 
when she is unwell. The Council has properly 
considered the request and is not at fault.

Complaint ref: 6351292
Mr Y complained on behalf of 
Miss X that the Council failed 
to properly consider her 
request to submit timesheets 
on a 12 weekly basis rather 
than 4 weekly basis, as a 
reasonable adjustment due to 
her disability.

Not Upheld
The Ombudsman determined that the Council 
had properly considered the request and is not 
at fault. To help the Council has agreed to allow 
Ms X a grace period of up to 12 weeks to submit 
timesheets when she is unwell. 

Complaint ref: 6409603
Mr X complained the Council 
failed to properly consider his 
daughter (X’s) need for 
transport to school. He was 
also unhappy with the way the 
Council considered his 
appeals.

Not Upheld
The Ombudsman determined that there was no 
evidence of fault.

Complaint ref: 6507286
Mrs X complained that the 
Council's actions have 
impacted on her son's 
education and mental health.

Not Upheld
The Ombudsman did not find fault that the 
Council failed to provide any educational 
support or transport to school to her adult son, 
and delayed in issuing a revised Education and 
Health Care Plan. 

Complaint ref: 6489576 Did not Investigate

Page 36



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Mrs X complained that her 
brother, Mr Y, was discharged 
from hospital to a care home, 
without his family being 
informed. She said that the 
family only found out he had 
been moved when they went 
to visit him in hospital and he 
was not there.

The Ombudsman decided not to investigate 
because although they recognise there may 
have been shortcomings in communication, it is 
unlikely that an investigation would achieve 
anything further for Mrs X.

4. LEARNING FROM COMPLAINTS

I have looked at all the complaints recorded to identify errors and what we did to resolve these 
issues. Listed below are the main themes:

Communication
 In three complaints we apologised that our communication should have been clearer, for 

misinformation and that we did not follow through with our promise to contact them when 
the decision was known. 

Errors
 In one complaint we included within the assessment an incorrect name. We apologised for 

this. 

Delays
 In one complaint we apologised for the delay in responding to an enquiry.

5. COMPLIMENTS

Table 23 – number of compliments received

Period Total number
2017/18 56
2018/19 68

Here’s what some people have said.

I would like to take the time to write to you to acknowledge the fantastic help and support provided 
by X, Social Worker during the last few months. I am not sure if you are aware of the history, but 
suffice to say I have been battling for 9 years to ensure that Y has suitable support. During these 
years there have been a number of different social workers involved during this time, and this 
situation has been going for all this time. X took the time to listen to my concerns, investigate 
these concerns thoroughly and with her dogged determination to do the best for Y. I would like to 
send my heartfelt thanks to X and would like you to know too that without her dedication I fear Y 
would still be receiving poor quality service. Please pass on my thanks formally to X.

Could I kindly ask you to please pass on my sincere apologies for not being there & also thank 
all of the staff/carers on my behalf for the care, dignity & professionalism given to my mum during 
her five years there at xxxx. You are a truly dedicated team of amazing, wonderful carers & staff 
who work there & I will never forget you or indeed the residents whom we have got to know during 

Page 37



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

this time. I will miss you all.

To praise the new service you have provided via XX from Y Cars, he has been Z’s driver 
consistently with the odd days cover which I was given notice by XX so Z could prepare himself 
and even the cover drivers were 100% fantastic and reliable.  The main point I want to praise XX 
for is the fact that he has handled the entire travel situation fantastically he is warm, friendly, kind 
and understanding, Y can’t wait to travel to school with him every day.  The service XX provides 
is outstanding considering he can handle every situation on his own without a carer which is such 
a wonderful gift to have especially when dealing with children with Autism it just shows that it 
actually depends on the person you employ and how much they care rather than just being a taxi 
driver or carer and not even communicating with my son.  XX makes my son feel safe and happy 
XX has done the job with such professionalism it’s been a safer happier journey with XX. I just 
want to sing Y Cars praises so you are aware of what an outstanding company you employ to 
take care of children with Special Needs.  I think it’s important to hear positive news about your 
service as we are so used to hearing complaints all the time I just wanted to send you a positive 
note with regards to your service and I want to thank you for looking after and making my son 
safe to and from school it has changed our life.

I just want to thank you so much for all your hard work, time  and the efforts that you put into my 
care plan and  package, by getting Y ( My carer ), Canine Partner Assistance Dog added to my 
care package. It’s been a huge battle for the last 4 years, to get Y his legal recognition with 
Hillingdon Council, but your efforts, hard work and diligence, will and has made a huge difference 
to my care plan. I know that without your assistance that this would not have happened, so I can’t 
thank you enough
 
X was my mother's Community Care Worker before my mother passed away on 27th June. 
Although it has been some weeks since her death, I continue to be thankful for X's professional 
support, understanding and kindness. X carried out her assessment sensitively, she explained 
processes clearly, she was honest when she did not know the answer and called when she said 
she would and returned calls promptly. X also brought in the support of the occupational therapist, 
district nurses and GP as mum's condition deteriorated. I don't think she could have done more.  
I would like you to know how much we appreciated X's support.

My partner, X, has been gravely ill for the last 12 months and Y was assigned to his case.  He 
has since been discharged from hospital (having been admitted on 22nd January 2018) and is 
now resident in Z Care Centre.  Sadly, the next steps for him will be palliative care. I would like to 
thank Y for her compassion, support and professionalism during this very difficult time.  She kept 
in contact with me on a regular basis and I always felt that nothing was too much trouble for her.  
I appreciate just how challenging Y's role is and wanted to give her the credit she so rightly 
deserves.  I also lost my mother last year and am still grieving for her.  Without Y's support I would 
not have been able to cope. Please would you pass my sincere thanks and gratitude on to Y and 
I wish her all the very best for the future.

Page 38



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

CHILDREN’S SERVICES PERFORMANCE DATA 

Panel name Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview 
Committee 

Officer reporting Zafer Yilkan - Assistant Director for Corporate Parenting

Papers with report None

Ward All

HEADLINES

The purpose of this report is to provide a  summary  of performance highlights  to the Social Care, 
Housing and Public Health regarding our Looked After Children and Care Leavers  population 
and demographic information.  The data captures the statistics and performance at 5 August 
2019. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee notes the 
content of the report. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Currently, the London Borough of Hillingdon is Corporate Parents to 348 Looked After Children 
and 425 Care Leavers. (data correct as of 05.08.2019) 

This report provides the Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee with 
information regarding the demographics of the LAC population and Care Leavers - under the 
headlines of Our 5 Desired Outcomes for our Children. 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Page 40



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Be the best versions of themselves 

The table below is drawn from the Virtual School KPI data recording. 

Key Performance Indicator July 2019

Percentage of Statutory School Age 
Children Looked After making expected 
progress against national standards

Currently we have 216 Statutory School Age (SSA)  
Looked After Children  of whom 69% are making expected 
progress against national standards. The Virtual School is 
working closely with all our looked after children, carers, 
professionals and education providers to ensure they 
achieve their full potential.  

Percentage of Personal Education Plans 
(PEP) assessed as high quality (rated 
'Green').

For the summer term 202 LAC required PEP meetings, all 
of   which have been held. 188 have been written up with 
106 (56%) spot check Quality Assured.  We are pleased 
to report that 99% of PEP’s that have been Quality 
Assured are graded as being of a high standard.

Percentage average attendance for 
Statutory School Age Children Looked 
After (SSA CLA). 

In the 2018/19 academic year, average attendance was 
91.86%. 52 SSA CLA have attendance below 90%. Of 
these, 29 were entered into care as of 31st March 2018. 
Applying the  national indicator  for those children who 
have been in care for more than 12 months our statistics 
have improved to 93.2%

Percentage of sessions missed by 
Statutory School Age Children Looked 
After through unauthorised absence

In the 2018/19 academic year, the unauthorised absence 
average is 3.3%, this is linked to 86 CLA. Applying the  
national indicator of the last  12 months in care our stats 
are improved to 2.7%. Our virtual school target is 2%

Percentage of Statutory School Age 
Children Looked After with one or more 
fixed term exclusions in an academic 
year

In the 2018/19 academic year we have 16 children who 
have recorded 1 or more FT exclusions. This equates to 
7% of the SSA CLA cohort.
School days lost totals 96 days
The Virtual School works closely with schools and 
headteachers to prevent  FT exclusion. 

Percentage of Statutory School Age 
Children Looked After not offered a 
school place within 20 school days

Currently we have 13 Looked After Children without a 
school place (increase due to school summer holidays 
and unable to place). 10 are UASC (on the National 
Transfer Scheme and will be referred to Ruislip Young 
People’s Centre with a September 19 start as new to 
care). All 13 are secondary school age and 10 are in KS4 
with 3 in year 11, who have now been off rolled and Post 
16 options are being considered. 1 has SEN with an 
EHCP and is a school refuser. 

Page 41



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Activity types of 19-21 year old current care leavers on 05/08/2019

Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Commentary 

More Care Leavers in Hillingdon are in Education, Employment or Training (EET), than the 
national average. At present, this data is being drawn for 19-21 year olds to enable a direct 
comparison to the national average. We have high aspirations for all our looked after children and 
care leavers and support them to achieve their full potential. As part of our drive to reduce children 
and young people who are not in education, employment and  training  (NEET) we have 
successfully forged a partnership working with Drive Forward Foundation to support  our care 
leavers in accessing further training and employment.  

Page 42



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

To enjoy good physical, mental and emotional health 

Timeliness of SDQ’s for current LAC on 05/08/2019

Source: Weekly Data set 05/08/2019

Commentary

The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) is a short behavioural screening 
questionnaire that local authorities are required to use for all looked after children in England. 
Each looked-after child aged 4- 17 years should have an annual SDQ completed by their main 
carer.  SDQ completion and scoring are monitored at each child’s LAC review.  Our in-house 
Multi-Agency Psychology Service (MAPs) offer consultation to staff, carers and deliver direct 
services to children and young people who may require therapeutic interventions. This valuable 
resource helps to identify and prevent children’s emotional and mental health deteriorating further 
by offering early and at the point of need therapeutic intervention.  As a result Hillingdon has lower 
than national average (scoring 17 and above) SDQ scores.   

Health Assessments up to date for current LAC on 05/08/2019

Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Page 43



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Commentary

There is a small number of young people who are repeat refusers of an Annual Health 
Assessments. They are all considered under the DNA procedure and health needs are considered 
individually at LAC reviews.

We hold bi-monthly health liaison meetings with health colleagues which has enabled stronger 
working relationships and improve timeliness of undertaking health assessments.

Dental Checks up to date for current LAC on 05/08/2019

Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Commentary

Our recorded data shows that 84% of Children Looked After have had a dental check within the 
previous 12 months.

Data analysis evidences that a small number of young people refuse to attend dental 
appointments.  

Page 44



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

To have pride in their unique identities 

94 CLA started in the last 6 months (06/02/2019-05/08/2019)

Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Ethnicities of current LAC on 05/08/2019

Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Commentary

Hillingdon, as  a port Local authority  continues to have a large percentage of UASC. 33% of our 
total LAC population are UASC which has been consistent over the previous 12 months. 

Page 45



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Hillingdon works closely with local provision, Hillingdon Refugee Support Group, to enable young 
people to access specialist services to help develop their English language skills and access peer 
support. 

To live somewhere they feel they belong

Current LAC placements by type and provision on 05/08/2019

 
Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)
(1 placement not recorded)

Commentary

48% of our Children Looked After are placed in foster placements, and 28% are in semi-
independent provision, including Hillingdon’s own resource Olympic house. Placements are 
identified according to  individual needs of each child, and any placement move is  carefully 
considered and planned before a move takes place.  As a Local Authority, we pride ourselves in 
providing placements to the majority of our children in-house, local or within a 20 miles radius. 
Placement Stability Meetings are used to prevent sudden and unnecessary placement 
breakdowns.  

Page 46



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Accomodation types of 19-21 year old current care leavers on 05/08/2019

Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Commentary 

The majority of our care leavers aged 19-21 are living independently, which may include Shared 
houses, university accommodation, privately rented accommodation, or those with their own 
council tenancy. 
In respect of our total care leaver population, 17 young people remain with their foster carers 
under Staying Put arrangement and 111 asylum seeking care leavers are residing  locally in 
shared accommodation provided by the London Borough of Hillingdon. We have recently 
appointed a Senior Personal Advisor who is working with young people at risk of homelessness. 
We have no care leavers known to us who are street homeless or rough sleeping. 

Page 47



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

To be and feel safe 

Primary need of the 94 CLA started in the last 6 months (06/02/2019-05/08/2019)

Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Comment

In the last 6 months 94 children were received into care. The largest percentage is as a result of 
safeguarding concerns. Absent parenting is the term provided by the 903 return for those young 
people who have no one to act as parents within the country. For this reason UASC are 
considered under absent parenting.

Current LAC on 05/08/2019 with latest review in time

  
Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Page 48



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Commentary 

A child looked after has a statutory requirement to have a LAC review within 20 days of becoming 
looked after, 3 months later and then every 6 months. The IRO Annual Report 2018-19 outlines 
the work undertaken by the IRO service (Reported submitted to CPP) 

Legal Status of current LAC on 05/08/2019

Source: ChAT (05/08/2019)

Commentary 

 All Looked After Children under 16 years are subject to Permanency Planning Process and each 
child is carefully considered regarding their permanency arrangements.  Our Percentage of 
Looked after children accommodated under Section 20 is higher than the national average which 
reflects the high percentage of our UASC. 

90% of LAC statutory visits are up to date. Where those that are not up to date, LAC visits may 
have been undertaken but if the child or young person has failed to keep the appointment, it is 
recorded as being overdue.  

Page 49



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Work Force Updates

In Hillingdon, our social workers hold an average workload of 17 cases.

All our newly qualified social workers are required to commit to the Assessed and Supported Year 
of Employment, nationally known as ASYE, enabling their social work learning by holding reduced 
caseload, additional study and reflective time, and support from the Advanced Practitioner in the 
teams.  At present, we have 19 ASYEs and 5 apprentices due to join in September 19. 

Update on the work of the Children’s Rights and Participation Team (to be presented by 
our Young People)

The Children’s Rights and Participation Team, sitting within the Looked After Children and Care 
Leavers Services oversee the children in care councils and other enrichment and participation 
opportunities. 
Since the previous Corporate Parenting Panel in May 2019 the team have undertaken the 
following work:-

● Supported 6 young people to learn to code (computer programming) through the successful 
partnership with Giffgaff

● Supported 10 looked after children to attend the theatre with their foster carers through the 
advertising of discount theatre tickets via the “Mousetrap” theatre promotion 

● Supported young people to be part of the interview panels for the newly qualified social work 
interviews in May half term, and for a YOS nurse in June 2019. 

● Delivered two Walking In Our Shoes training sessions to 29 staff members. 
● Celebrated EID with 25 young people at a celebration event co-hosted with Hillingdon 

Refugee Support Group 
● Young people have supported Brunel University in the testing of a new website aimed at care 

Experienced students
● Supported two young people to participate and present at the annual Family Justice Young 

People’s Board (CAFCASS) conference 
● Supported young people to thank their foster carers as part of the annual Foster Carers 

celebration event, with a video installation from the Children in Care Council and testimonies 
from two young people who had been looked after, and another young person acting as co-
MC for the event. 

● Linked up with colleagues from Havering to share best practice and visit their offices. 
● co-hosted a BBQ at Charville Lane children’s home & co-hosted a BBQ with Hillingdon 

Refugee Support group with 50 young people in attendance.
● Undertaken three inspections of residential homes 
● Supported 17 young people to have their aspirations raised by attending a careers day with 

GiffGaff at their Head Offices in Uxbridge 
● Given 7 young people the opportunity of a lifetime for a trip on the London Eye, Thames 

Clipper and Tower of London 
● Arranged day trips with our Children in Care councils to Legoland, Thorpe Park and Brighton. 

Page 50



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

Implications on related Council policies
 
There are no implications on related council policies. 

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents
 
This report enables the Corporate Parenting Panel to scrutinise the performance data in respect 
of our Looked After Children and Care Leavers. 
 
Financial Implications

As this is an update report covering a wide range of performance indicators there are no financial 
implications to be considered. 
 
Legal Implications
 
Discharging our corporate parenting duties is a legal requirement set firmly in legislation. 
There are no legal implications arising from this report.
 
BACKGROUND PAPERS
 
Glossary of terms - please see attached 

Glossary of Terms 

Page 51



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

CAMHS Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service 

CIC
CLA
LAC

Child in Care 
Child Looked After 
Looked After Child 
(often used interchangeably) 

CICC Children in Care Councils
In Hillingdon - Talkers, Step Up, Stepping out 

HRSG
BHUMP

Hillingdon Refugee Support Group - also known as 
Befriending Hillingdon Unaccompanied Minors Project 

IHA Initial Health Assessment 

IRO Independent Reviewing Officer 

LAC review A regular meeting that brings together those people who involved in the care of 
the child in order to review the care plan. Chaired by a IRO 

LBH London Borough of Hillingdon 

LCS / ICS / 
Protocol 

The recording system used by Children’s Social Care for recording children’s 
information. 

MAPS Multi- Agency Psychological Support 
A multi agency team including staff from CAMHS and social care, specifically 
supporting children in care. Offers consultation to professionals including social 
workers, residential units, foster carers and schools, in addition to assessment 
and treatment for children in care.

NTS National Transfer Scheme. A Government scheme (from 01.07.16) which 
requires Local authorities who have a large number of UASC to transfer them 
to areas which have a small number of UASC.  

OFSTED Office for Standards in Education, Children's Services and Skill
Inspect Children’s services, schools, children’s homes, childminders 

Out of borough Placement not in the London Borough of HIllingdon 

PA Personal Advisor 
Local Authority member of staff allocated to support care leavers 

PEP Personal Education Plan 
A termly plan about what educational needs they have and what targets are set 

Pupil premium Additional funding for schools to be spent to raise the achievement of 
disadvantaged pupils, including LAC. 

RHA Review Health Assessment 

Page 52



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee - 25 September 2019 

s.20 Section 20 of the Children Act 1989 
The Local Authority will have to accommodate under section 20 if:

● No-one has Parental Responsibility for the young person or
● The young person is lost or abandoned or
● The person who has been caring for the young person is unable to 

continue to provide suitable care and accommodation

Young people who are Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children are 
accommodated under s20.

SSA Statutory School Age

SDQ Strength and Difficulties Questionnaire. 
A paperform undertaken every 6 months for children in care to help 
assessment their emotional wellbeing 

VS
VSO

Virtual school 
Virtual school Officer 

UASC Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children
Under 18’s who are outside their home country seeking asylum, separated 
from parents and relatives

YTP Young People’s Team 
In Hillingdon the social work team that work with looked after children and care 
leavers aged 16+

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

COMMITTEE REVIEW – UNIVERSAL CREDIT 

Committee name Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview 
Committee 

Officer reporting Anisha Teji, Democratic Services Officer

Papers with report Final draft of review report – circulated separately from agenda

Ward All

HEADLINES

The Committee is now finalising its review into Universal Credit and other welfare benefit 
changes and how the Council can support residents through the transition to, and future 
successful management of, their Universal Credit (UC) claims. 

RECOMMENDATIONS

That the Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee:

1) Considers the draft report for the review and delegates any amendments to 
Democratic Services, to be approved by the Chairman and Labour Lead. 

2) Subject to the agreed amendments, endorses the report for submission to 
Cabinet.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The agreed Terms of Reference for the review are set out below:

 Terms of Reference

1. To understand the impact that the introduction of the full UC service has had in areas 
where it has been rolled out. To include the cumulative impact of the introduction of 
UC and other welfare benefit changes.

2. To understand the impact that UC, alongside other welfare benefit changes, is having 
and is expected to have on local residents in Hillingdon and on the income and costs 
of the Council, housing associations and other local organisations.

3. To examine how the Council services, housing associations and voluntary groups are 
supporting residents to transition to UC and manage their claims.

4. To make practical, prudent recommendations to Cabinet (and other bodies if 
applicable) from the Committee’s findings to support residents transitioning to UC and 
to manage their claims.

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

 Review update 

At the meeting on 30 July 2018, Members agreed that the Committee’s first review topic 
would be ‘Universal Credit and Other Welfare Benefit Changes’. Following this agreement, 
Members heard from a variety of witnesses. 

This information has now been set out within a draft final report, alongside the 
recommendations that were discussed at the meeting on 31 July 2019. This draft final report 
will be circulated to the Committee prior to the meeting on 25 September 2019, and it is 
requested that the Committee consider the draft final report for endorsement to Cabinet.

Implications on related Council policies

While much of this topic is set nationally set, for any changes locally, the role of the Policy 
Overview Committees is to make recommendations on service changes and improvements 
to the Cabinet who are responsible for the Council’s policy and direction.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

Policy Overview Committees directly engage residents and external partners in the work they 
do.

Financial Implications

These are primarily for residents claiming UC, as set out in the background papers. There 
may also be an impact on the Council’s finances in respect of residents being unable to pay 
rent and Council tax. 

Legal Implications

The primary legislation relating to Universal Credit is the Welfare Reform Act 2012, with 
further regulations following thereafter.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Scoping Report
Previous Committee papers on the review published on the Council’s website

Page 56



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

COMMITTEE REVIEW 

Committee name Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee 

Officer reporting Anisha Teji, Chief Executive’s Office 

Papers with report Appendix A - Review topic selection scorecard

Ward All

HEADLINES

To provide Committee Members with information about:

1. The Committee’s remit, i.e. Terms of Reference;
2. How reviews are undertaken and ways in which Members can add value to their findings 

and; 
3. Consider potential next review topic ideas.

RECOMMENDATIONS 

That the Committee consider potential next review topic ideas. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The Committee’s direct remit of activity

This Committee’s specific Terms of Reference are set out below. This sets the parameters (or 
service areas) in which the Committee can undertake reviews, present findings, request reports 
and provide direct input on matters:
 

1. Social care services for children, young persons and children with special needs
2. Oversee the Council’s Corporate Parenting responsibilities
3. Adoption and Fostering
4. Family Services
5. Adult Social Care
6. Older People’s Services
7. Care and support for people with physical disabilities, mental health problems and learning   
difficulties
8. Asylum Seekers
9. Local Authority Public Health services
10. Encouraging a fit and healthy lifestyle
11. Health Control Unit, Heathrow
12. Encouraging home ownership
13. Social and supported housing provision for local residents
14. Homelessness and housing needs
15. Home energy conservation
16. National Welfare and Benefits changes

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Undertaking policy reviews

Over the years, Policy Overview Committees have undertaken successful in-depth reviews of 
Council services and policies. This has resulted in a number of positive changes locally, with 
some also affecting policy at a national level. Such committees engage Councillors in a wide 
range of Council activity and build a greater understanding about service provision to residents.

Review phases

The typical phases of a review are as follows:

1. Selection of topic
2. Scoping the review / setting out objectives
3. Witness & evidence stage (this is the main activity)
4. Draft recommendations considered / early draft of review report
5. Final report approved by Committee
6. Referred to Cabinet for consideration
7. Monitoring the implementation of recommendations once approved / amended by Cabinet 

at meetings, i.e. in six months

Selecting review topics

It is always best to sound out potential review topics early on. In respect ideas of areas to review 
these can come from a variety of sources e.g: Committee Members; Council officers; External 
partners / residents and Cabinet Members. When a Committee considers a potential review topic, 
we recommend running it past the following criteria as part of our scorecard (see Appendix A); 
i.e. topics that are:

● Resident-focused
● Under the correct remit of the Committee
● Matters the Council has influence over
● New issues
● Achievable for the Council
● Can gain wider organisational buy-in and support
● Drive improvement / efficiency
● Provide early warning or resilience for national changes
● Investigate the ‘big issues’ locally or nationally within Hillingdon

Witness and evidence stage

Ultimately, any Policy Overview Committee’s efforts are at their best when external witnesses and 
residents participate, adding value to intelligence gathering and findings. In support of this, 
Committees have undertaken a variety of both formal and informal activity “in meetings” and 
“outside meetings”. It is important to pull together a broad evidence based for any potential 
findings later on. Additionally, the ability for Councillors to bring their ‘local’ insight is highly 
valuable. Activities the Committee can undertake include:

● Surveys / social media

Page 58



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

● Promotion of review to seek views
● Invite the relevant Cabinet Member to attend for their views
● Question key council officers
● Hold informal workshops
● Networking events, e.g. with partners
● Have closed meetings, i.e. confidential, such as social care clients
● Commission reports from council officers / externally
● Request data and intelligence on the topic
● Visits to other local authorities
● Undertake site visits within the Borough or council facilities
● Appoint experts or advisors to join the Committee throughout its review
● Selecting the best range of witnesses to get a real user / resident perspectives
● Invite national experts in their field

Whilst information will be provided to Councillors, it may be helpful when preparing for this stage 
of a review, that Councillors:

● Prepare their draft questions for each witness in advance;
● Read a witness bio or find out more about their organisation;
● Do their own additional research on the topic - you may find something officers don’t!
● Use their network of councillors in other local authorities to seek views;
● Tell residents at Surgeries / Ward Walks about your review, get their thoughts.

Drafting recommendations

After hearing from witnesses and receiving evidence, the Committee then will meet to pull 
together all the information and shape its collective findings. Any final recommendations that 
come to Cabinet ideally should:

● Meet the initial aims / objectives of the review
● SMART, Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Relevant, Time-bound
● Not be a short-term fix, but a lasting outcome
● Affordable or can be aligned neatly with the MTFF process
● Based on a broad evidence base as possible 
● Seek to review or amend existing approved policies (as opposed to new ones)
● If publicity or wider engagement or education is recommended, to target such 

communications as best as possible
● Consider  ‘conclusions’ as well as specific recommendations

Nearer this time, Democratic Services staff supporting the Committee will advise further on 
drafting recommendations. Throughout this process, their role is critical to the Committee, to guide 
Members and secure the information and witness activity that Members wish to undertake. They 
also draft alongside the Chairman, the final report for the Committee to consider.

Page 59



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Possible next review topic ideas

Below is a list of recent review topics over the last four years (within the Committee’s revised 
remit) to give an example of what has already been done:

2015/16

● Raising Standards in Private Sector Rented Accommodation
● Stroke Prevention in Hillingdon

2016/17

● Hospital Discharges
● The Impact of Changes to Housing Benefits on Residents and the Council

2017/18

● Loneliness and Isolation in Older Residents

2018/19 

 Universal Credit 

Implications on related Council policies

A role of the Policy Overview Committees is to make recommendations on service changes and 
improvements to the Cabinet who are responsible for the Council’s policy and direction.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

None at this stage, pending any findings approved by Cabinet.

Financial Implications

None at this stage.

Legal Implications

None at this stage.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Council Constitution

Page 60



Classification: Public 
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Appendix A - Review topic selection scorecard

Resident-focused - High impact on residents and the community, with public interest 
and scope for making a positive difference (whether universal or a targeted group or 
area, e.g. young people or a particular town centre)

Correct remit - is it covered in the Committee’s Terms of Reference and does it cut 
across into the domain of other Committees? If it does, narrow the topic or consider 
suggesting the Corporate Services POC considers it, or perhaps a joint Committee 
working group review if the respective Chairmen and Committees agree.

Influence - A topic that affects residents, groups, businesses and other key stakeholders 
in Hillingdon and relates to a service, event or issue in which the Council is in control of, 
has a significant stake in or has influence over, e.g. with partners.

New - A new and fresh topic preferably. One which has not previously been reviewed by 
a Committee in the last 2-3 years, or which is not currently being reviewed by another 
Committee or internally. 

Achievable - A good level of expertise, best practice and information is available to draw 
on to complete this review. Committee resources, departmental plans and organisational 
timings permit a successful review with positive recommendations, during the current 
municipal year. Is the review ToR to wide and need to be narrowed to be achievable? 
Will the Committee’s work programme accommodate the review?

Wider organisational support - A topic that is likely to receive organisational buy-in 
from the Committee and wider Council. Possibly support from partner organisations to 
add value to existing work.

Drives improvement - a service or area of partnership that has been identified internally 
or externally that requires improvement in the medium-long term and would benefit from 
Members’ insight. Performance risks or areas of consistent under-performance. 

Drives transformation and efficiency - in support of the Council’s objectives, any 
areas where service re-modelling is under consideration in the longer-term, that with 
Members’ insight can help to deliver future savings, efficiencies and VFM.

National and local - a topic that will assist the Council in the implementation or 
awareness of external challenges, new legislation, national policy or the changing role of 
the public sector. A topic relevant to Hillingdon’s residents that seeks to lobby change in 
national legislation, policy or practice.

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

SOCIAL CARE, HOUSING AND PUBLIC HEALTH POLICY OVERVIEW 
COMMITTEE – FORWARD PLAN 

Committee name Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview 
Committee 

Officer reporting Anisha Teji, Chief Executive’s Office

Papers with report Appendix A – Forward Plan 

Ward All

HEADLINES

The Committee is required by its Terms of Reference to consider the Forward Plan and 
comment as appropriate to the decision-maker on key decisions which relate to services within 
its remit (before they are taken by the Cabinet or by the Cabinet Member).

RECOMMENDATION

That the Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee notes and 
comments on items going to Cabinet. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

The latest published Forward Plan is attached. 

Implications on related Council policies

A role of the Policy Overview Committees is to make recommendations on service changes and 
improvements to the Cabinet who are responsible for the Council’s policy and direction.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

Policy Overview Committees directly engage residents and external partners in the work they 
do.

Financial Implications

None at this stage.

Legal Implications

None at this stage.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

NIL. 

Page 63

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Ref

Upcoming
Decisions Further details Ward(s)

Final
decision by
Full
Council

Cabinet
Member(s)
Responsible

Officer Contact
for further
information

Consultation on the
decision

NEW
ITEM

Public or
Private
(with
reason)

SI = Standard Item each month                                                                                                                                Council Departments:  RS = Residents Services    SC = Social Care   CEO = Chief Executive's Office    FD= Finance

Cabinet meeting - 26 September 2019
041
a

Hillingdon
Homelessness
Prevention and
Rough Sleeping
Review and
Strategy

Cabinet approval will be sought to commence
formal consultation on the draft Homelessness
Prevention and Rough Sleeping Review and
Strategy

All Cllr Philip
Corthorne

RS - Dan
Kennedy /
Debbie Weller

NEW Public

042 Property
Transactions

Cabinet will consider the disposal of The School
House, 103 Judge Heath Lane, Hayes, UB3 2PB
and The School House, Phelps Way, Harlington,
UB3 4LH. Both properties are no longer required
and surplus to requirements.

Pinkwell /
Yeading

Cllr
Jonathan
Bianco

RS - John
McKenna

NEW Private
(3)

Cabinet meeting - 24 October 2019
016 Local

Safeguarding
Children Board:
Annual Report

Cabinet will receive the Annual Report of the Local
Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). It provides
Elected Members with a view on effectiveness of
children’s safeguarding in Hillingdon and identifies
priorities for future action and attention.

All Cllr David
Simmonds
CBE

SC - Steve
Ashley
(Independent
Chairman) /
Tony Zaman

Social Care,
Housing & Public
Health Policy
Overview
Committee

Public

017 Safeguarding
Adults
Partnership
Board Annual
Report

The Annual Report of the Safeguarding Adult
Partnership Board will be presented to Cabinet. The
report details the partnership's activity and
performance in safeguarding adults at risk and its
priorities for the year. The report is set in the
context of national guidance and policy.

All Cllr Philip
Corthorne

SC - Steve
Ashley
(Independent
Chairman) /
Tony Zaman

Social Care,
Housing & Public
Health Policy
Overview
Committee

Public

Cabinet meeting - 14 November 2019
025 Older People's

Plan update
Cabinet will receive it's twice yearly update on progress
on the Older People's Plan (May and November
annually).

All Cllr Ray
Puddifoot
MBE / Cllr
Philip
Corthorne

RS - Kevin
Byrne

Older People,
Leader's Initiative

Public

Cabinet meeting - 12 December 2019

P
age 65



041
b

Hillingdon
Homelessness
Prevention and
Rough Sleeping
Review and
Strategy

Following consultation, Cabinet approval of the
Council's Homelessness Prevention and Rough
Sleeping Review and Strategy will be sought.

All Cllr Philip
Corthorne

RS - Dan
Kennedy /
Debbie Weller

NEW Public

026
a

The Council's
Budget - Medium
Term Financial
Forecast 2020/21 -
2024/25 BUDGET &
POLICY
FRAMEWORK

This report will set out the Medium Term Financial
Forecast (MTFF), which includes the draft General
Fund reserve budget and capital programme for
2020/21 for consultation, along with indicative
projections for the following four years. This will also
include the HRA rents for consideration.

All 20-Feb-20 Cllr Ray
Puddifoot
MBE & Cllr
Jonathan
Bianco

FD - Paul
Whaymand

Public consultation
through the Policy
Overview
Committee process
and statutory
consultation with
businesses &
ratepayers

Public

The Cabinet's Forward Plan is an official document by the London Borough of Hillingdon, UK

P
age 66



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

SOCIAL CARE, HOUSING AND PUBLIC HEALTH POLICY OVERVIEW 
COMMITTEE - WORK PROGRAMME 

Committee name Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee 

Officer reporting Anisha Teji, Chief Executive’s Office

Papers with report Appendix A – Work Programme

Ward All

HEADLINES

To enable the Committee to track the progress of its work in 2019/20 and forward plan its work 
for the current municipal year.

RECOMMENDATION

That the Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee considers the 
report and agrees any amendments. 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1. The Committee's meetings tend to start at 7pm and the witnesses attending each of the 
meetings are generally representatives from external organisations, some of whom travel from 
outside of the Borough.  The meeting dates for this municipal year are as follows: 

Meetings Room
13 June 2018, 7pm CR 5
30 July 2018, 7pm CR 4
26 September 2018, 7pm CR 4
17 October 2018, 7pm CR 4
28 November 2018, 7pm CR 4
16 January 2019, 7.45pm  CR 4
7 February 2019, 7pm CR 4
18 March 2019, 7pm  CR 4
11 April 2019, 7pm CR 4 
12 June 2019, 7pm CR 5
31 July 2019, 7pm CR 6 
25 September 2019, 7pm CR 6 
23 October 2019, 7pm CR 6
27 November 2019, 7pm CR 6
15 January 2020, 7pm CR 6

Page 67

Agenda Item 10



Classification: Public
Social Care, Housing and Public Health Policy Overview Committee – 25 September 2019 

Implications on related Council policies

A role of the Policy Overview Committees is to make recommendations on service changes and 
improvements to the Cabinet who are responsible for the Council’s policy and direction.

How this report benefits Hillingdon residents

Policy Overview Committees directly engage residents and external partners in the work they do.

Financial Implications

None at this stage.

Legal Implications

None at this stage.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

NIL. 

Page 68



Multi year work programme
Social Care, Housing & Public Health

2020
Meeting Month September October November January February March April June July 

Date 25 23 27 14 6 25 16 TBC TBC

REVIEW A:Universal Credit - likely 
favourable and adverse impacts, risks and 
local partnership response 
Topic selection / scoping stage

Witness / evidence / consultation stage

Findings, conclusions and recommendations

Final review report agreement

Target Cabinet reporting Final report CABINET

Post review monitoring

Review B (TBC)

Topic selection / scoping stage
Topic idea 
discussion 

Agree topic for 
Review 2019 

Witness / evidence / consultation stage Scoping report Witness 1 Witness 2

Findings, conclusions and recommendations Findings

Final review report agreement Final report 

Target Cabinet reporting

Post review monitoring

Regular business items 
Mid year Budget Update

Annual complaints & service update report X

Annual LCSB (Children's Safeguarding Board report)

Annual SAB (Adults Safeguarding Board report)

Quality and Capacity of the Community Mental Health 
Services in Hillingdon 

X

Child & Adolescent Mental Health Services update X

Looked After Children Performance Data x

Report / minutes from the Corporate Parenting Panel X X X

Cabinet's budget proposals for next financial year X

Cabinet Forward Plan monitoring X X X X X X X X X

Work Programme X X X X X X X X X

One-off business items
Information report on current housing policy/housing 
assessments X

Child Sexual Exploitation

Better Care Fund Plan X

Update on Telecare Line X

Update on the Carers Strategy Update X

Osted report 

Past review monitoring
Early Intervention Service X

Hospital Discharges X

Universal Credit update X

Loneliness and Social Isolation

Internal use only
Report deadline 12 Sept 2019 10 Oct 19 14 Nov 19 2 Jan 20 24 Jan 20 12 Mar 20 2 Apr 20 TBC TBC

Agenda published 17 Sept 2019 15 Oct 19 19 Nov 19 6 Jan 20 29 Jan 20 17 Mar 20 8 Apr 20 TBC TBC

P
age 69



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To receive the minutes of the previous meeting
	5 Annual Complaint Report For Housing And Social Care Services For 1 April 2018 To 31 March 2019
	6 Children's Services Performance Data
	7 Committee Review - Universal Credit
	8 Committee Review
	9 Forward Plan
	Public Version - September

	10 Work Programme
	Work Programme


